
 

 

Memo 
To: City Commission  

From: Toby Dougherty, City Manager  

Date: 5-29-15 

Re:  June 4, 2015 Work Session   

Please find the attached agenda and supporting documentation for the June 4, 2015 Work 
Session.   
 
Item 2 – 2016 Budget Presentations – Outside Agencies  
 
It is that time of year again when outside agencies make their budget request presentations to the 
City Commission. As a reminder of the procedure the Commission typically follows in this process, 
there is no immediate action required by the Commission on the budget requests. The City 
Commissioners will typically ask questions of each agency as they feel is necessary after the 
presentations are made. When City staff presents the 2016 Budget to the Commission, the 
budget numbers for outside agencies will be left the same as 2015. During the budget discussion, 
the City Commission will be asked to determine what amount should be included for each outside 
agency for fiscal year 2016.  
 
Item 3 – Ordinance and Resolution to Authorize the Issuance of General Obligation Bonds, Series 
2015A 
 
Please refer to the attached memorandum from Kim Rupp, Finance Director, regarding the bond 
sale and the ordinance and resolution authorizing the issuance of General Obligation Bonds. This 
item has been in front of the Commission several times over the past few months. The process 
will culminate with a bond sale on June 11th and hopefully the passage of the ordinance and 
resolution authorizing the issuance of those bonds. 
 
aw   
 

City of Hays 
Office of the City Manager 



 



 
CITY OF HAYS 

CITY COMMISSION WORK SESSION 
THURSDAY, JUNE 4, 2015 – 6:30 P.M.  

AGENDA 
 
 
 

1. ITEM FOR REVIEW: May 21, 2015 Work Session Notes (PAGE 1) 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RESPONSIBLE: Kim Rupp, Director of Finance 

 
2. 2016 BUDGET PRESENTATIONS – OUTSIDE AGENCIES (PAGE 5) 

 6:30 p.m. Ellis County Coalition for Economic Development (Aaron White/Board Members) (PAGE 7) 

6:35 p.m.  Fort Hays State University (Dr. Mirta Martin) (PAGE 17) 
 

6:40 p.m. Wild West Festival (Mary Karst/Tom Meiers/Joleen Younger/Deron O’Connor) (PAGE 35) 
 

 6:45 p.m. Downtown Hays Development Corp. (Sara Bloom and Sandy Jacobs) (PAGE 43) 

 6:50 p.m. CARE Council – Social Services/Special Alcohol Tax (Nikki Adams/Josh Dreher) (PAGE 57) 

 6:55 p.m. Hays Arts Council, Inc. (Brenda Meder and Dennis Schiel) (PAGE 93) 

 7:00 p.m. Hays Sister Cities Advisory Board (Ann Leiker) (PAGE 113) 

 7:05 p.m. Ellis County Historical Society (Donald Westfall and Juti Winchester) (PAGE 123) 

 

3. ITEM FOR REVIEW: Ordinance and Resolution to Authorize the Issuance of General 
Obligation Bonds, Series 2015A (PAGE 137) 
DEPARTMENT HEAD RESPONSIBLE: Kim Rupp, Director of Finance 

 
4. OTHER ITEMS FOR DISCUSSION 
 
5. EXECUTIVE SESSION (IF REQUIRED)  

 
6. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

ANY PERSON WITH A DISABILITY NEEDING SPECIAL ACCOMMODATIONS TO ATTEND THIS MEETING 
SHOULD CONTACT THE CITY MANAGER'S OFFICE 48 HOURS PRIOR TO THE SCHEDULED MEETING 
TIME.  EVERY ATTEMPT WILL BE MADE TO ACCOMMODATE ANY REQUESTS FOR ASSISTANCE. 



 



 

 

City of Hays 

City Commission 

Work Session Notes 

Thursday, May 21, 2015 – 6:30 p.m. 

 

Present: Eber Phelps, Shaun Musil, James Meier, Henry Schwaller IV, Lance 

Jones, John Bird and Toby Dougherty 

 

May 7, 2015 Work Session Notes  

There were no corrections or additions to the minutes of the work session 

held on May 7, 2015; the minutes stand approved as presented. 

 

Contract Sewer Main Cleaning 

The Utilities Department initiated a multi-year program to clean sewer 

mains in 2013. Bids were solicited with a contract document that had a provision 

for contract annual renewal. Mayer Specialty Service, LLC was chosen in 2013 at 

$1.19 per linear foot. In the summer of 2013 they cleaned and videoed 19 miles 

of sewer mains. Staff was very pleased with the work. Mayer Specialty agreed to 

continue the contract with a 1.5% increase from $1.19 to $1.21 per foot for 2014. 

Mayer Specialty cleaned and videoed 18 miles of sewer mains in the summer of 

2014 and again staff was very pleased with the work. Mayer Specialty has 

agreed to continue the contract with a 2% increase from $1.21 to $1.23 per foot 

for 2015. 

At the May 28, 2015 Commission meeting, Commissioners will be 

requested to extend the contract for sewer cleaning and videoing in 2015 by 

Mayer Specialty Services, LLC at $1.23 per linear foot not to exceed $120,000, 

to be funded from Wastewater Other Contractual Services.  

 

 

1



Sale and Use of Fireworks for 2015 Fourth of July Holiday 

According to City ordinance, the Commission is required to determine 

whether to suspend the sale and use of fireworks in a particular year at its final 

regular meeting in May.  

At this time, City staff is not able to list a compelling reason for the 

Commission to suspend the sale and use of fireworks other than the fact that 

many residents do not like fireworks. Threats posed by fireworks to health and 

property are going to exist each year; therefore, they are not viewed by City staff 

as a reason to recommend suspending the sale and use. In previous years, the 

City was experiencing severe drought conditions, and the Commission was 

worried about the threat of fire.  

According to the ordinance, the sale and use of fireworks, if permitted by 

the Commission, will be governed by the laws of the State of Kansas as to type. 

If the sale and use of fireworks are allowed, the sale shall be limited to the dates 

of July 2, 3 and 4 only. Consumer use of fireworks is limited to July 2, 3 and 4 

between the hours of 10:00 a.m. and 11:00 p.m.  

Roy Herman, co-owner of TAZ Fireworks, encouraged the Commissioners 

to allow fireworks this year.  

The Commissioners discussed the issue and it was their consensus to 

allow fireworks in 2015. The City Commission must take action to suspend the 

sale and use of fireworks; if they don’t take action, fireworks will be permitted as 

per the terms of the ordinance, so no action was necessary. 

 

Removal of CID Section from Economic Development Policy 

Commissioner Schwaller asked that discussion be held on the possibility 

of removing the Community Improvement District (CID) section from the City’s 

Economic Development Policy. He stated he is not against economic 

development incentives, but is concerned if it is actually an incentive or if it 

merely improves the return on investment. He is also concerned with the use of 

funds from the incentive and he would like to see those funds go toward 

infrastructure, which would benefit the public.  Commissioner Schwaller stated 

2



there are at least two proposed CID’s and he has some concerns about a 

patchwork of sales tax rates throughout the City. He also stated there is already 

development that is occurring without incentives. 

Chairperson Phelps stated he looks at CID’s as a legal tool that can be 

kept and used if needed on a case by case basis. 

Commissioner Jones agreed he likes having the tool available, but stated 

that the requirements for the CID are very restrictive and do not apply to small 

business owners. 

Commissioner Meier is not in favor of CID’s, but stated that a project might 

come up he would support, like Target or Sam’s Club, and would like the policy 

available. 

Commissioner Musil stated if we want our town to continue to be viable, 

we have to have incentives available. 

 It was the consensus of the Commission to keep the policy as it is written. 

 City Manager, Toby Dougherty, will develop a checklist for applicants to 

streamline the process and will coordinate with the Ellis County Coalition for 

Economic Development.  

 

Other Items for Discussion 

 Commissioner Jones commented that the levy project is going well and 

that he has enjoyed the recent events held downtown. He also encouraged 

everyone to attend the Memorial Day ceremony at the American Legion.  

 

 

The work session was adjourned at 7:36 p.m. 

 

 

Submitted by: ______________________________________________ 

Brenda Kitchen – City Clerk 

3



 

4



2016 2015-2016
Agency/Program 2012 2013 2014 2015 Request Difference

Local Agency Funding 164,000$      164,000$      164,000$      164,000$     164,000$        -$                       
Total 164,000$     164,000$     164,000$      164,000$     164,000$        -$                       

2016 2015-2016
Agency/Program 2012 2013 2014 2015 Request Difference

Fort Hays State University Scholarship Progam 100,000$      100,000$      100,000$      100,000$     125,000$        25,000$                 
Ellis County Coalition for Economic Development 87,550$        87,550$        87,550$        87,550$       87,550$          -$                       
Downtown Hays Development Corporation (DHDC) 53,655$        53,655$        53,655$        53,655$       53,655$          -$                       

Total 241,205$     241,205$     241,205$      241,205$     266,205$        25,000$                 

2016 2015-2016
Agency/Program 2012 2013 2014 2015 Request Difference

Ellis County Historical Society 11,241$        11,621$        11,621$        11,621$       12,000$          379$                      
Hays Arts Council 8,364$          12,182$        11,182$        11,182$       12,000$          818$                      
Wild West Festival (WWF) ** 9,690$         9,500$         9,500$          9,500$         9,500$            -$                       
Hays Sister Cities Advisory Board 3,887$          5,444$          3,000$          5,050$         5,050$            -$                       

Total 33,182$       38,747$       35,303$        37,353$       38,550$          1,197$                   

 TOTAL OUTSIDE AGENCIES 438,387$  443,952$  440,508$  442,558$  468,755$     26,197$             

NOTE: A budget request was submitted ($60,000) for Alcohol Tax funds, but this request is not part of the Social 
Services, Economic Development or Quality of Life budgets. 

CITY OF HAYS

Economic Development
Distribution History

Distribution History

2016 BUDGET - OUTSIDE AGENCY REQUESTS

Quality of Life

Social Services
Distribution History

5



 

6



City of Hays 
Outside Agency 

2016 Budget Request Form 
 
 

     Date of Request:___05/19/15_____________ 

 

Name of Organization Requesting Funding: 
Ellis County Coalition for Economic Development 

Amount of Request:  
$87,550 

Brief Description of Request for Funding: 
The Ellis County Coalition respectfully requests the same amount of funding provided in 2011-
2015 for operations. The contribution continues your support and cooperation with other public 
and private investors to assist with economic development activities in Ellis County. 

List outcomes for requested City funds 
The funding of this public/private partnership supports a number of economic development 
initiatives: existing business retention and expansion, business recruitment in various industries, 
development of affordable housing, workforce development and skills training, support of 
entrepreneurs, promotion/marketing of Hays as a gigabyte community regarding broadband, 
and other various activities that support growth of Hays, Ellis County, and NW Kansas. 

Has your organization received funding from the City of Hays before? 
Yes 

If you answered “Yes”, please offer details of past funding by year including verification 
that the funds issued were used for the purpose intended: 
See attached. 

Will this funding request assist in offsetting municipal services?  If so, how 
Yes.  Without the Ellis County Coalition in place, the City of Hays would certainly need to hire 
staff to perform these functions, and assume full cost. 

Number of Hays citizens directly and indirectly affected with requested City funds:  
This organization impacts every citizen to some extent; by working directly with business we 
impact the business, its employees, and its customers. 

What actions will be taken if your funding request is denied or reduced this year and next 
Line items would need to be adjusted in the budget, and services would be reduced or 
eliminated. 

Contact Information (Who do we call if we have questions about this application: 
Aaron J. White, Executive Director 
628-3102 
aaron@haysamerica.net 

Who will be presenting your request at the City Commission Work Session on            
June 4, 2015: 
Aaron White and members of the Ellis County Coalition Board of Directors. 

7

mailto:aaron@haysamerica.net


 
 
May 19th, 2015 
 
 
Honorable Mayor and City Commissioners of the City of Hays, 
 
As part of your budget considerations for 2016, The Ellis County Coalition for Economic 
Development respectfully requests an appropriation of $87,550.  The investment will continue 
your participation and cooperation with other Coalition investors to assist with economic 
development activities in Ellis County.  To compliment your support, the Ellis County Coalition 
for Economic Development will again actively seek investments from additional public and 
private sector supporters to sustain our activities. 
 
The Coalition has worked on a number of initiatives since 2011, and has updated its 3 year 
Strategic Plan this year.  Our Strategic Plan prioritizes the efforts and focus of Coalition 
activities to match concerns and objectives of the Coalition members and the community as a 
whole.  Three overall areas will direct Coalition activities: business creation, existing business 
retention/expansion, business recruitment. 
 

• Business Creation 
o Business creation will have a focus on “home grown” entrepreneurs and businesses.  

Our efforts, partnered with other local resources, will provide support to those looking 
to start a business and create jobs. 

o Identifying and meeting the needs of local entrepreneurs will be our major focus: 
business planning, financing, high speed communications, site location, workforce 
development, etc.   
 

• Existing Business Retention/Expansion 
o Growth is primarily driven by existing business.  Our focus in retention is to work with 

businesses to determine what they need to continue to grow in Ellis County: 
workforce, workforce housing, financing, infrastructure, etc. 

o Workforce training and recruitment is always a concern.  This goes hand in hand with 
affordable workforce housing.  The Coalition will continue to work towards solutions 
to these issues thru the efforts of our 501c3: skills training and housing 
development/renovations will continue to be a strong focus. 
 

• Business Recruitment 
o The Coalition efforts will continue to identify and recruit industry whose 

facility/infrastructure/workforce needs are compatible with this region. 
o Focus to be given to industries that provide high skill/high wage opportunities that will 

retain FHSU graduates, require/utilize high speed connectivity, capitalize on existing 
industry clusters, and diversifies our industry base. 
 

  
Our efforts will continue to be coordinated with those of the Small Business Development 
Center, the Kansas Department of Commerce, the U.S. Department of Agriculture, Pioneer 
Country Development Corporation, the Convention and Visitors Bureau, the Hays Area 
Chamber of Commerce, Downtown Hays Development Corporation, and others to address the  

8



 
 
 
 
(con’t) 
 
opportunities and needs of businesses in the county.  We will also continue to work with the 
Docking Institute of Public Affairs and Leadership classes at Fort Hays State University to 
conduct surveys and research that will help in our efforts to enhance the economy of Ellis 
County.   
 
The Coalition is very appreciative of your previous investments and participation in our efforts 
and we look forward to the continuance of this mutually beneficial relationship. 
 
Respectfully, 
 

 
 
Aaron J. White 
Executive Director 
Ellis County Coalition for Economic Development 
 

2700 Vine Street ● Hays, Kansas 67601 ● www.haysamerica.net ● coalition@haysamerica.net ● (785) 628.3102 

9

http://www.haysamerica.net/
mailto:coalition@haysamerica.net


 

Vision 2020:  
Ellis County is the catalyst for growing, vibrant and diversified communities in northwest 
and north central Kansas. 
 
Mission: 
The mission of the Ellis County Coalition for Economic Development is to promote a 
robust local economy through business creation, retention/expansion, and recruitment. 
 
Challenges: 
As with any path to success, Ellis County is not without challenges as it moves into the 
future.  Concerns identified by the Coalition Board, local businesses, organizations, and 
community leaders include:  

 Complacency about growth/overcoming resistance to growth 
 Access to quality jobs and services 
 Sustainability of rural towns in NW Kansas: survival of small communities, community/county 

rivalry, local government infighting 
 Cost of maintaining/improving/creating infrastructure to support growth 
 Population: attracting and retaining youth, attracting and retaining workers—“brain drain” 
 Available land: cost of existing sites, limited expansion opportunities 
 Capital to develop growth 
 Engaging smart, capable youth in the community 
 Housing: need for starter homes, need for affordable workforce housing as this directly affect 

local employers ability to hire and retain employees 
 Lack of skilled trades and technically educated workers 
 Created and support entrepreneurs and small business 
 Aging businesses and succession planning 
 Capitalize on fiber network and internet speeds available to business 

 

Strategy: 

Recognizing these challenges and concerns of the Coalition members, local businesses, and the 
community in general, the Ellis County Coalition seeks to identify areas it can influence for positive 
change in the community and place its focus on actions to address these areas.  The Coalition will 
direct the majority of its efforts to these 3 key areas: 

 

10

http://www.haysamerica.net/


 

Goal—BUSINESS CREATION  

Objective—Collaborate with educational institutions, governmental agencies and business partners 
to identify and support entrepreneurial efforts that create sustainable jobs and businesses. 

• Action Item—Assist prospective entrepreneurs in identifying market potential for new businesses, 
finding suitable locations to operate their business, identifying and overcoming obstacles to starting 
their business, and identifying additional resources to help establish/grow their business. 

• Action Item— Market Ellis County as the preferred location for business startups. 
• Action Item—Identify requirements of technology driven startups seeking to launch their businesses 

in Ellis County.   
• Action Item—Collaborate with other entities to develop programs and facilities to meet the needs 

of entrepreneurs. 
• Action Item—Encourage entrepreneurship in the community through education of our eCommunity 

program and other partner organization services. 
• Action Item—Market Ellis County as a gigabyte community to startups that require high speed 

connectivity to succeed in their industry. 
• Action Item—Meet monthly, and as needed, with Hays Chamber of Commerce, Hays Convention 

and Visitor Bureau and Downtown Hays Development Corporation, to discuss best practices, 
partnering opportunities and to ensure a common brand for Ellis County. 

 

Goal—EXISTING BUSINESS RETENTION/EXPANSION 

Objective—Link existing businesses in our region to resources needed to thrive.  

• Action Item—Identify strategies and partnerships to grow the availability of affordable housing for 
rent or ownership in Ellis County. 
 Housing Renovation Program 
 Outside developer interest 

• Action Item—Market and educate the existing local businesses on services offered by the Coalition 
as well as state and local programs. 

• Action Item—Identify the needs of local employers relating to workforce development and training. 
 Welding Employment Training program and other skilled trades variations to be developed 
 Leadership training for management/supervisor level employees 
 Basic customer service training for non-specific industries 

• Action Item—Educate local partners about the Ellis County eCommunity program to grow 
participation.  
  Expand promotion efforts to FHSU and area high entrepreneurs  

 

11

http://www.haysamerica.net/


 

Goal—BUSINESS RECRUITMENT 

Objective—Recruit new employers whose site/facility/infrastructure requirements are compatible 
with the region. 

• Action Item—Continue to work with local property owners/realtors/developers to identify and 
market development ready sites.  Focus on sites with the following criteria: 
 Public infrastructure already in place 
 Asking price that is realistic for the industry market 
 Site is ready to develop 

• Action Item—Identify prospective industries that are compatible with Ellis County to target for 
recruitment, then develop a recruitment strategy. 

• Action Item—Identify the parameters of possible industries being recruited to Ellis County, to 
determine their fit: 
 Low water use 
 Utilities requirements within the capacity of available sites 
 Technology driven industry 
 Higher paying wages/higher tech skills 

 
• Action Item—Identify existing industry clusters in order to market community to like industries.  

Clusters can be leveraged for industry growth, with a focus towards diversification of our employers. 
• Action Item—Market Ellis County as a gigabyte community to existing businesses that are relocating 

for access to high speed internet. 
 

 

12

http://www.haysamerica.net/


Account #T Description Projected 2016 2015 2014 Actual 2013 Actual
REVENUE

600 R Ellis County 47,500.00                                                          47,500.00                    87,500.00                    87,500.00                    
605 R City of Ellis 4,000.00                                                            4,000.00                      -                               4,000.00                      
610 R City of Hays 87,550.00                                                          87,550.00                    87,550.00                    87,550.00                    
615 R City of Victoria 1,000.00                                                            1,000.00                      1,000.00                      1,000.00                      
620 R Ellis Chamber of Commerce 250.00                                                               500.00                         250.00                         2,000.00                      
625 R Hays Chamber of Commerce
630 R Convention & Visitors Bureau
635 R Heart of America Development Corp 2,000.00                                                            2,000.00                      2,000.00                      2,000.00                      
640 R Private Sector Investments 63,000.00                                                          57,000.00                    33,350.00                    37,350.00                    
655 R Misc Income (Net)                                                            25,000.00                      25,000.00                           280.00                             25.00 
656 R Office Space Lease                                                                         -                                     -    . 
665 R Interest Income 2,800.00                                                            2,800.00                      1,776.35                      2,022.65                      
667 R Dividend Income 296.40                         229.71                         
675 R NetWork Kansas 8,333.35                      
690 R Job Fair 500.00                                                               500.00                         1,400.00                      2,050.00                      

Total Revenue 233,600.00                                                        227,850.00                  215,402.75                  234,060.71                  

EXPENSES
Personnel Services

705 E Salaries and Wages 135,060.81                                                        131,127.00                  127,480.00                  126,726.47                  
705.03/.04 E Pension 9,191.31                                                            8,911.00                      8,923.60                      8,870.86                      
705.05/.06 E Pension Fees 1,107.25                                                            600.00                         1,075.00                      675.00                         

720 E Contract Labor -                                                                     -                               -                               -                               
725 E Payroll Taxes 10,300.00                                                          10,000.00                    9,373.46                      8,941.98                      

730.01 E Employee Life/Accidental Death and Dis 1,126.56                                                            1,092.00                      1,092.00                      992.00                         
730.02 E Employee Insurance-other (STD/LTD) 2,420.50                                                            2,350.00                      2,339.16                      2,285.76                      
730.03 E Employee Insurance-health 12,600.00                                                          12,000.00                    11,223.72                    10,613.59                    

732 E Workman's Comp Insurance 946.57                                                               919.00                         773.72                         747.72                         
Personnel Services Total 172,753.00                                                        166,999.00                  162,280.66                  159,853.38                  

13



Account #T Description Projected 2016 2015 2014 YTD 2013 Actual
EXPENSES

Operations
735.02 E Computer Supplies & Maint 1,319.10                      
735.04 E Copier Expense -                               
735.05 E Office Supplies 1,450.00                                                            1,500.00                      1,346.19                      -                               

740 E Property Taxes 500.00                                                               400.00                         252.21                         258.06                         
741 E Bank Service Charges 100.00                                                               100.00                         15.00                           15.00                           

750.01 E Fax Charges & Supplies -                                                                     -                               -                               114.21                         
750.02 E Telephone 3,000.00                                                            3,000.00                      2,874.42                      3,258.98                      
750.03 E Internet 1,300.00                                                            1,300.00                      1,414.29                      956.50                         

755 E Equipment Leasing 6,372.00                                                            6,372.00                      6,372.00                      4,952.70                      
760 E Bond/Prop/Liability Insurance 1,613.00                                                            1,613.00                      763.36                         665.97                         
761 E Director/Employment Liability 760.00                                                               760.00                         1,012.64                      1,012.06                      
762 E Auto Insurance 1,002.00                                                            1,002.00                      975.00                         981.75                         

765.01 E Accounting 10,500.00                                                          10,500.00                    9,325.00                      9,180.00                      
765.02 E Legal Fees -                                                                     -                               727.50                         2,960.00                      

770 E Postage & Delivery 500.00                                                               500.00                         308.46                         217.17                         
773 E Occupancy 13,500.00                                                          13,500.00                    13,020.00                    11,935.00                    
774 E Local Business 2,500.00                                                            2,500.00                      1,822.01                      2,636.15                      
775 E Donation Match -                               

43,097.00                                                          43,047.00                    40,228.08                    40,462.65                    

776.01 E Airline Fare 1,200.00                                                            1,200.00                      -                               -                               
776.02 E Meals 500.00                                                               500.00                         288.58                         299.26                         
776.03 E Hotels 1,200.00                                                            1,200.00                      347.25                         636.15                         
776.04 E Rental Car 200.00                                                               200.00                         -                               -                               
776.05 E Taxi/Tolls 100.00                                                               100.00                         5.50                             17.50                           
776.07 E Staff Mileage 350.00                                                               350.00                         -                               -                               
776.09 E Conferences & Seminars 1,500.00                                                            1,500.00                      1,050.00                      374.00                         
776.10 E Vehicle Maintenance & Repair 750.00                                                               750.00                         635.79                         1,276.98                      
776.11 E Gasoline 1,400.00                                                            1,400.00                      1,041.60                      1,451.53                      
776.13 E General Travel Expenses -                               -                               

780 E Dues & Subscriptions 2,800.00                                                            2,800.00                      2,440.68                      6,799.00                      
10,000.00                                                          10,000.00                    5,809.40                      10,854.42                    

14



Account #T Description Projected 2016 2015 2014 YTD 2013 Actual
EXPENSES

Operations (cont)
785 E Director Recruitment

790.01 E Employee Training 1,500.00                                                            1,500.00                      -                               -                               
790.06 E Advertising 1,080.00                      4,083.00                      
790.07 E Promotional Items 750.00                                                               750.00                         -                               62.58                           
790.09 E General Marketing & Advertising 1,500.00                                                            1,500.00                      2,028.76                      2,495.00                      
790.11 E Job Fair 1,000.00                                                            1,000.00                      780.00                         697.09                         

791 E Training 435.72                         
792 E Fly Hays -                                                                     -                               14,750.00                    
795 E Research 2,500.00                                                            2,500.00                      12,507.25                    3,095.00                      
825 E Miscellaneous Expense 70.32                           139.95                         
830 E Depreciation Expense 500.00                                                               500.00                         493.73                         493.73                         
935 E HaysHasJobs Marketing 9,301.91                      

7,750.00                                                            7,750.00                      41,447.69                    11,066.35                    

Total Expenses 233,600.00                                                        227,796.00                  249,765.83                  222,236.80                  
950 E 501c3 13,172.35                    12000.00

233,600.00                                                        227,796.00                  262,938.18                  234,236.80                  
CAPITAL OUTLAY

Incubator Activity
Vehicle Reserve

Total Capital Outlay -                                                                     -                               -                               -                               

TOTAL EXPENSES AND OUTLAY 233,600.00                                                        227,796.00                  262,938.18                  234,236.80                  

    
EXCESS OR (DEFICIT) -                                                                     54.00                           (47,535.43)                   (176.09)                        

SPECIAL PROJECTS
Lionchase recruitment Used $10,000 in 2012; $40K remaining

15



 

16



City of Hays 
Outside Agency 

2016 Budget Request Form 
 
 

     Date of Request    May 20, 2015 

 

Name of Organization Requesting Funding:  Fort Hays State University 

 

Amount of Request: $125,000 

 

 

Description of Request for Funding: (see attached letter and supporting documents 

              

             

              

             

              

 

List outcomes for requested City funds:  (see attached letter and supporting documents) 

             

             

              

             

              

 

Has your organization received funding from the City of Hays before?  Yes  

 

If you answered “Yes”, please offer details of past funding by year including verification 

that the funds issued were used for the purpose intended: (see attached letter and 

supporting documents)          

             

              

             

              

 

 

 

17



Will this funding request assist in offsetting municipal services?  If so, how?   NO 

             

             

              

              

             

              

             

              

 

Number of Hays citizens directly and indirectly affected with requested City funds:   

(see attached letter and supporting documents)        

              

             

              

 
What actions will be taken if your funding request is denied or reduced this year and 

next?              

             

              

              

             

              

             

              

 

Contact Information (Who do we call if we have questions about this application?):   

Karen Allen, Administrative Assistant, Office of the President, FHSU    

              

 

Who will be presenting your request at the City Commission Work Session on            

June 4, 2015?  Mirta M. Martin, President, FHSU  

 

18



19



20



Recruitment
Since its inception,
28 years ago, the Hays 
City Silver scholarship 
program has been a major 
contributor to the 
university’s successful 
recruitment and retention 
efforts. Recipients of this 
scholarship have risen 
from 52 to 375 in 2014-15, 
with 16.7% of the 2014-15 
freshman class receiving 
this scholarship.

Recruitment

Fort Hays State University & the City of Hays

Hays City 
Silver
Scholarship
Program
for scholastic achievement 

5186 5211 5216 

5567 
5705 5690 

5800 
5620 

5441 
5642 

5816 
5557 

5716 5784 
5919 

6392 

7373 

8500 

9019 9122 

9588 

10107 

11308 

11883 

12802 

13310 
13441 

13825 

Nu
m

be
r o

f R
ec

ip
ie

nt
s 

52 

127 

254 268 
294 

357 355 356 
374 

424 
464 

503 495 489 

441 448 444 
409 411 

371 

325 
345 

317 322 

377 
357 

382 375 

674 
698 

779 
801 

776 
806 

750 
790 

811 810 

907 

849 

800 

737 754 

831 

881 

821 

777 

723 
749 

811 

924 
950 

1068 1077 
1118 

1076 

197 

131 
97 

167 167 158 169 
197 

235 229 
196 181 173 

204 216 
179 189 

161 158 
189 172 189 

215 
185 197 180 

5000 

5500 

6000 

6500 

7000 

7500 

8000 

8500 

9000 

9500 

10000 

10500 

11000 

11500 

12000 

12500 

13000 

13500 

14000 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

900 

1000 

1100 

1200 

FY87
-8

8 

FY88
-8

9 

FY89
-9

0 

FY90
-9

1 

FY91
-9

2 

FY92
-9

3 

FY93
-9

4 

FY94
-9

5 

FY95
-9

6 

FY96
-9

7 

FY97
-9

8 

FY98
-9

9 

FY99
-0

0 

FY00
-0

1 

FY01
-0

2 

FY02
-0

3 

FY03
-0

4 

FY04
-0

5 

FY05
-0

6 

FY06
-0

7 

FY07
-0

8 

FY08
-0

9 

FY09
-1

0 

FY10
-1

1 

FY11
-1

2 

FY12
-1

3 

FY13
-1

4 

FY14
-1

5 

1987-2014 Total Enrollment/ Freshman Enrollment - Scholarship Recipients

Total Enrollment 

Total Silver Recipients 

Freshman Enrollment 

Freshman Silver Recipients 

21



0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
1993 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
1994 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
1995 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
1996 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
1997 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
1998 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
1999 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2000 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2001 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2002 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2003 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2004 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2005 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2006 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2007 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2008 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2009 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2010 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2011 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2012 
Class 

Fresh. 
- 

Soph. 
2013 
Class 

73.2 
75 

82.3 
80 81 80 80 82 

79 
82 

86 84 
81 

79 
82.5 80.7 

76.3 75.8 77.6 77 

82.8 

62 62.2 
66 

68.4 
65.7 

68.7 68.2 

73.3 
70.3 70.4 

73.3 

65.7 
69.9 

66.3 

72.2 

66.8 68.4 
63.7 

67.5 
65.5 67.1 

1993-2013 One-Year Retention Rates 

Silver Scholarship Recipients All Students 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

2008 Entering Class                                                           
(6 year graduation rate) 

2009 Entering Class                                      
(5 year graduation rate) 

2010 Entering Class                                                                           
(4 year graduation rate) 

44 
40 

25 

53.1 
55.2 

36.7 

Graduation Rates by High School Graduation Year 

All Students Silver Recipients 

Retention rate comparisons provide 
evidence of the importance of the 
renewable Hays City Silver Scholarship.  
These scholarship recipients are 
retained at a higher rate than other 
FHSU students. This trend 
demonstrates the contribution of the 
scholarship toward retention at FHSU.

RetentionRetention

Along with the retention rate 
comparisons, the graduation rate 
also provides evidence of the 
importance of the renewable Hays 
City Silver Scholarship. The Hays 
City Silver recipients complete 
their bachelor degrees at a higher 
percentage than the overall 
student population.

Graduation RateGraduation Rate

22



0 

50000 

100000 

150000 

200000 

250000 

300000 

350000 

400000 

89
-9

0 

91
-9

2 

93
-9

4 

95
-9

6 

97
-9

8 

99
-0

0 

01
-0

2 

03
-0

4 

05
-0

6 

07
-0

8 

09
-1

0 

11
-1

2 

13
-1

4 

15
-1

6 

Pledged Funding for Hays City Silver 
Scholarship Program 1989-2013  

City Commitment 

FHSU Commitment 

Total

Ellis CountyEllis County
Currently, 69 Ellis County students are participating in the 
program (new and renewable), for a total of $54,400. The Ellis 
County Residential Hall Reduction Plan funded 38 students 
during the 2014-15 period for a savings of $70,000. In 
addition, a total of $973,762 was paid to Ellis County students 
from the Fort Hays State University Foundation, Athletics, 
State of Kansas and outside scholarship resources.

Local BenefitsLocal Benefits
Fort Hays State University exerts a very positive 
influence on local business, housing demand, 
economic development activity, education and a 
variety of other municipal concerns. Some of these 
impacts are short-term and direct while others are 
long-term and indirect.

FHSU students inject direct expenditures of $38,551,000 
into the local economy.

For the 2014-15 year, 375 students benefited from the Hays 
City Silver Scholarship program at an investment
of $290,800.

The direct economic impact of Fort Hays State University on 
the local economy for FY2013 was $142,625,000. The total 
economic impact of FHSU on the City of Hays and Ellis 
County for FY2013 was $242,462,000.

Th
ou

sa
nd

s 
of

 D
ol

la
rs

 

Direct Benefits to Ellis County Students 2014-15

Hays City Silver Scholarship
Foundation/Athletics/State/Outside
Ellis County Residence Hall Reduction

TOTAL

$54,400
$973,762
$70,000

$1,098,162

23



 
The Impact of Fort Hays State University 

on the Local Economy 
Fiscal Year 2013 

 

 

Prepared For 

President’s Office 
Fort Hays State University  

Prepared By 

The Docking Institute of Public Affairs 
Fort Hays State University 

 
 
 

Copyright © December 2014 
All Rights Reserved 

24



 
 
Fort  Hays State University  

 600 Park Street   
 Hays, Kansas 67601-4099  
 Telephone: (785) 628-4197   

FAX: (785) 628-4188 
www.fhsu.edu/docking 

 
 

  
 
     
 
 
 

 
Gary Brinker, PhD     Michael S. Walker, MS 
Director     Assistant Director  
      
Jian Sun, PhD    Bradley Pendergast 
Research Scientist   Survey Center Manager  
 
                 Lynette Ottley 
  Administrative Associate 
    
                                  
                          
          Mission: 

 
To Facilitate Effective Public Policy Decision-Making. 

 
The staff of the Docking Institute of Public Affairs and its 
University Center for Survey Research are dedicated to 
serving the people of Kansas and surrounding states. 

     
 
 
 
      

25



 
 
 

The Impact of Fort Hays State University 
on the Local Economy 

Fiscal Year 2013 
 

 
 
 
 

Prepared By: 
 

Preston Gilson, Ph.D. 
Senior Policy Fellow 

Docking Institute of Public Affairs 
 

 
 

Prepared For: 
 

President’s Office 
Fort Hays State University 

 
In pursuit of  

The Docking Institute’s Public Affairs Mission 
 

 
 
 
 

Copyright © December 2014 
All Rights Reserved  

26



Executive Summary 
 

 

 The IMPLAN model shows that for FY 2013 the total economic 

impact of Fort Hays State University on Ellis County, Kansas 

was $210,323,000. 

 

 There were 2,985 jobs in the local economy because of the 

economic activity generated by Fort Hays State University and 

its employees. 
 
 

 These 2,985 jobs generated $126 million in labor income during 

FY 2013. 

 

 There were $7.25 million is local taxes generated by the 

economic activities of Fort Hays State University and its 

employees. 

 

 The Caffrey-Isaacs model shows that for FY 2013, the total 

economic impact of Fort Hays State University on Ellis County, 

Kansas was $242,462,000. 
 

 Trend analysis indicates that, since 2009, the economic 

activities of Fort Hays State University and its employees have 

resulted in a steadily increasing positive impact on the local 

economy. 

  

27



Introduction 
 

The purpose of this study is to determine the approximate magnitude 

of the economic impact of Fort Hays State University on the local 

economy (Ellis County, including the City of Hays) for the most recent 

fiscal year, 2013, which ended on June 30, 2013.  Both models used 

in this study are based on the work of Wassily Leontif.  These input-

output models attempt to quantify the interdependencies between the 

various sectors of an economy.  The two models used for this 

analysis are the IMPLAN Software and the Caffrey-Isaacs Method.  

The use of two different models allows for a cross checking of the 

results.  The source data for both of these models comes from a wide 

variety of sources that are collected and published by the U.S. 

Government.  Additional data, specific to this analysis, comes from 

Fort Hays State University. 

 

In addition to the immediate economic impact of Fort Hays State 

University there are longer-term economic impacts and non-

monetized benefits for the local and regional community.  These 

benefits include:  1) a better educated and more productive work 

force; 2) increased personal income; 3) transfer of know-how and 

technology to businesses, 4) non-profit organizations and 

governmental units; 5) civic leadership and service provided by 

students and employees; and, 6) sports events, cultural activities, and 

educational programs that improve the quality of life for the citizens of 

the surrounding area.  Quantifying these long-term, multifaceted 

benefits is beyond the scope of this study.  

28



Methodology and Data 
 

How an economy responds to changes in economic activity can be 

quantified based on the buy-sell relationships among the economic 

agents (businesses, governmental entities, and households) located 

within the studied economy.  Input-Output (I-O) models estimate the 

inter-industry relationships in an economy (or region) by measuring 

the distribution of inputs purchased and output sold by each industry.  

Through the use of I-O models, it is possible to calculate how the 

impact of one dollar flows or “ripples” through a regional economy.  

As this economic activity (measured by the dollar) flows through the 

economy, it causes additional economic activity (expenditures and 

employment).  This is the multiplier effect:  a quantitative measure of 

the ripple effects that an initial expenditure has on its economy. 

 

The total economic impact on an economy is the sum of the initial 

economy activity, the Direct Effect, plus all of the secondary effects, 

the Multiplier Effect.  Therefore, it is critical to accurately measure 

both the initial economic activity and the level of the flow through the 

economy. 

 

The IMPLAN software and database is a system that produces 

appropriate industry-level multipliers at the county level.  This differs 

from the Caffrey-Isaacs methodology, which uses an average 

industry-level multiplier for colleges and universities.  The Caffrey-

Isaacs methodology has been used to estimate the economic impact 

of FHSU for more than thirty years.  Thus, it provides a consistent 

29



measure of the economic impact over a relatively long timeframe.  

The IMPLAN methodology provides a more data driven and precise 

measure.  The difference in results is relatively small.  The similarity 

in magnitude of the two economic impact estimates provides 

assurance that the estimates are close to the actual (and not directly 

measurable) economic impact. 

 

Figure 1:  Comparison of IMPLAN and Caffrey-Isaacs Estimates, 

2007 - 2013 

 
Source:  For 2007, 2009, 2011 data: The Economic Impact of Fort Hays State University on the Local Economy:  Fiscal 
Year 2011, Figure 2 

 

Figure 1 shows that the Caffrey-Isaacs methodology consistently 

provides a higher estimate of the economic impact of FHSU on the 

local economy than the IMPLAN methodology during this time 

interval. 

 

A more detailed discussion of alternative methodologies is available 

in “The Economic Impact of Fort Hays State University on the State of 

$0

$50,000,000

$100,000,000

$150,000,000

$200,000,000

$250,000,000

$300,000,000

2007 2009 2011 2013

Caffrey-Isaacs

IMPLAN

30



Kansas Fiscal Year 2010” Docking Institute of Public Affairs August 

2011. 

 

The primary source of data for Fort Hays State University was the 

“Annual Financial Information for Fiscal Year 2013”.  This contains 

the audited financial statements of the University for the year ending 

June 30, 2013 and the accompanying statements and schedules. 

 

The Caffrey-Isaacs model requires that the reported total 

expenditures by the various economic agents (FHSU, Employees, 

Students, Visitors, and Other) must be adjusted to reflect only the 

spending that occurs in the local economy.  For example, employee 

expenditures (Employees) are based on employee compensation 

from FHSU.  The amount of employee compensation is reduced by 

all payroll deductions to estimate net payroll.  That is, the amount of 

“take home pay” available to the employee.  This amount is further 

reduced to reflect the amount spent locally based on the results of a 

survey of spending patterns by faculty and staff that was done by the 

Docking Institute1.  Although spending patterns are slow to change, 

the survey should be updated on a scheduled basis. 

  

1 “The Economic Impact of Fort Hays State University on the State of Kansas,” Docking Institute 
of Public Affairs, 2010. 

31



Results and Findings 
 

The IMPLAN model, Table 1, shows that for FY 2013, the total 

economic impact of Fort Hays State University on Ellis County, 

Kansas was $210,323,000.  There were 2,985 jobs in the local 

economy because of the economic activity generated by Fort Hays 

State University and its employees.  These jobs generated $126 

million in labor income and $7.25 million is local taxes. 

 

Table 1:  IMPLAN Model, FY 2013 

Impact Type  Output  Employment Labor Income Local Taxes 
Direct Effect $142,625,000  2,341  $105,402,000 

 Indirect Effect $2,280,000  16  $710,000 
 Induced Effect $65,418,000  627  $19,897,000 
 Total Effect $210,323,000  2,985  $126,009,000 $7,251,000 

Note:  Totals may differ due to rounding errors     
 

The Caffrey-Isaacs model, Table 2, shows that for FY 2013 the total 

economic impact of Fort Hays State University on Ellis County, 

Kansas was $242,462,000.  The largest portion of this impact came 

from the spending of FHSU employees, followed by the spending of 

students, the university, visitors, and other.  Other is a consolidation 

of peripheral enterprises like the athletic association, bookstore, 

Foundation, and Memorial Union that are not under the direct control 

of the FHSU. 

 

32



Table 2:  Caffrey-Isaacs Model, FY 2013 

 
Direct Effect Indirect Effect Induced Effect Total Effect 

FHSU $30,770,000 $6,154,000 $15,385,000 $52,309,000 
Employees $44,288,000 $8,858,000 $22,144,000 $75,289,000 
Students $38,551,000 $7,710,000 $19,275,000 $65,536,000 
Visitors $24,186,000 $4,837,000 $12,093,000 $41,116,000 
Other $4,831,000 $966,000 $2,415,000 $8,212,000 
Total $142,625,000 $28,525,000 $71,312,000 $242,462,000 
Note:  Totals may differ due to rounding errors. 

 

The difference in the estimated economic impact between these two 

approaches is $33,076,000.  Although this is not a negligible amount 

it is relatively small.  If we assume that the true, and unmeasurable, 

economic impact is exactly halfway between the two estimates, then 

the IMPLAN estimate is low by 7.32 percent and the Caffrey-Isaacs 

estimate is high by 7.32 percent.  The mean economic impact based 

on the average of the two estimates is $226,392,500. 
 

33



Sign In  

 Opportunities  
o Ours 
o External 

Hays City Silver Academic Award 

This $800 scholarship is available to first time freshmen with a composite score of 24-27 on the 
ACT. This award is also renewable for three additional undergraduate years provided the student 
remains full time (12 hrs. per semester) with a 3.3 cumulative FHSU GPA and remains at FHSU 
continuously. This program is partially funded by the City of Hays. 

Award 
$0.00 

Deadline 
02/18/2015 

© 2010 - 2015 AcademicWorks, Inc. All rights reserved.  

Scholarships | Financial Aid | Admissions | FHSU Home | Tiger Tracks  
 

34



City of Hays 
Outside Agency 

2016 Budget Request Form 
 
 

     Date of Request: June 4, 2015 

 

Name of Organization Requesting Funding: Wild West Festival 

 

Amount of Request: $9,500 

 

Brief Description of Request for Funding: The Wild West Festival Committee is requesting 

funding that will allow the Festival to continue to provide affordable quality family entertainment 

for the Citizens of Hays and the surrounding area. The funding that we are requesting will be 

used to assist with the cost of the spectacular fireworks show, insurance, and accounting. The 

Wild West Festival became a reality as a result of a strategic plan for and by the City of Hays in 

1994 and 1995. With the exception of an office manager, the Wild West Festival is a totally 

volunteer organization. The Wild West Festival event is one of the quality of life elements that 

are provided by the City of Hays through the Wild West Festival for its citizens.  Approximately 

forty-five Wild West Festival Committee members are dedicated to assisting the Parks 

Department with the completion of the plans to upgrade Municipal Park. This includes, but is not 

limited to, adding serpentine sidewalk, bathroom facilities and drinking fountains as were 

presented in a master plan for the area. 

 

List outcomes for requested City funds: The outcome of the request is that an average of 

3,000 people each night of the festival travel from outside of Hays to attend the event which 

increases the sales in the motels, hotels, restaurants, gas stations, and shopping centers. The 

Wild West Festival has paid sales tax on the tickets sold annually back to the City of Hays. Each 

year an average of $6,000 is paid back to the city in the form of sales tax.  

 

Has your organization received funding from the City of Hays before? Yes 

 

If you answered “Yes”, please offer details of past funding by year including verification 

that the funds issued were used for the purpose intended: The Wild West Festival has 

provided entertainment for an average of 7,500 people per night for three nights and an 

estimate of 18,000 people for the fabulous fireworks display each year. The funds received each 

year ($9,500) beginning in 1998 have been used to help fund the fireworks display, insurance 

and accounting expenses. 

35



 

Will this funding request assist in offsetting municipal services?  If so, how? Yes. The 

Wild West Festival Committee has provided the labor and equipment and solicited funding to 

build two shelter houses, upgrade the electric facilities, plant numerous trees, construct a 

cement slab, and install a public drinking fountain in Municipal Park. With these improvements, 

the citizens of Hays have the ability to use the Municipal Park area 51 out of the 52 weeks of the 

year. History has proven that these shelter houses are used quite frequently throughout the 

year. 

 

Number of Hays citizens directly and indirectly affected with requested City funds: 

Approximately 4,500 citizens of Hays attend the event each evening, along with 3,000 from 

outside the city.  The economic impact on the city of Hays benefits all who live here. The quality 

of life is also greatly improved by the quality of talent the Wild West Festival brings to town for a 

very reasonable ticket price so everyone in the city can afford to attend. The fireworks display is 

second to none in the state of Kansas and brings families together to enjoy the freedoms our 

country provides us. 

 

What actions will be taken if your funding request is denied or reduced this year and 

next? If the funding request is denied, we would have to try to increase the level of corporate 

sponsorships which we believe would put the event in danger of not happening. Our corporate 

sponsors have been very gracious, but we believe they are giving all they can.   

 

Contact Information (Who do we call if we have questions about this application?): 

Mary Karst - 2315 Timber Drive, Hays, KS 67601 (785)623-0189 (cell) or (785)628-1081 (work)  

Bob Swift - 1328 Federal Street, Hays, KS 67601 (785)628-3906 (home) (785)656-0321 (cell) 

 

Who will be presenting your request at the City Commission Work Session on            

June 4, 2015? Mary Karst, Tom Meiers, Joleene Younger, Deron O’Connor 

 

 

36



Wild West Festival 
Box 1717 
Hays, KS 67601 
April 17, 2015 
 
City of Hays 
Box 490 
Hays, KS 67601 

Hays City Commission: 

The Wild West Festival Committee is requesting $9500 that will allow our organization 

to continue to provide affordable, quality, family entertainment for the citizens of Hays 

and the surrounding area.  The Wild West Festival Committee members are dedicated to 

assisting the Parks Department with the completion of the plans to upgrade Municipal 

Park.  The Wild West Festival Committee has provided the labor, equipment and 

solicited funding to build two shelter houses, upgrade the electric facilities, plant 

numerous trees, construct a cement slab, and install a public drinking fountain in 

Municipal Park.  An additional outcome of the request is that an average of 3,000 people 

each night of the festival travel from outside of Hays to attend the event. Each year, the 

Wild West Festival pays an average of $6,000 back to the city in the form of sales tax.  

Thank you for your time and past support of the Wild West Festival. 

 
Sincerely, 
The Wild West Festival Committee 

37



Revenues 
Carnival 5,000.00                              

Chairs 3,000.00                              

Corporate 63,000.00                           

Concessions & Ice 1,000.00                              

T‐Shirts 150.00                                 

Ticket Sales 113,000.00                         

Vendors                                                                               5,000.00                              

TOTAL REVENUES 190,150.00                      

Expenditures
Catering 4,000.00                              

Advertising 9,000.00                              

Concerts Support 21,500.00                           

Major Talent 85,000.00                           

Fireworks Show 15,000.00                           

Concessions & Ice 900.00                                 

Insurance 7,000.00                              

Janitorial 1,000.00                              

Legal & Professional 500.00                                 

Office 1,250.00                              

Pay Roll 14,000.00                           

Permits 500.00                                 

Postage 300.00                                 

Printing 3,500.00                              

Promotions 4,000.00                              

Rental 4,000.00                              

Repairs & Maintenance 1,500.00                              

Supplies 3,500.00                              

Taxes 8,500.00                              

Security 1,000.00                              

Screens 10,000.00                           

Armbands 2,000.00                              

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 197,950.00                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 7,800.00                          

OTHER FINANCIAL SOURCES
Loan Proceeds 0.00

Interest Income 40.00

City of Hays Grant 9,500.00

Equipment Purchases 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 9,540.00                          

EXCESS OF REVENUES & OTHER FINANCING
  Sources over (under) Expenditures                                1,740.00                              

& Other Financing Uses

Wild West Festival

Proposed Budget 2016

38



Revenues 
Carnival 5,000.00                              

Chairs 3,000.00                              

Corporate 78,000.00                           

Concessions & Ice 1,000.00                              

T‐Shirts 150.00                                 

Ticket Sales 113,000.00                         

Vendors                                                                               5,000.00                              

TOTAL REVENUES 205,150.00                      

Expenditures
Catering 4,000.00                              

Advertising 9,000.00                              

Concerts Support 21,500.00                           

Major Talent 95,000.00                           

Fireworks Show 20,000.00                           

Concessions & Ice 900.00                                 

Insurance 7,000.00                              

Janitorial 1,000.00                              

Legal & Professional 500.00                                 

Office 1,250.00                              

Pay Roll 14,000.00                           

Permits 500.00                                 

Postage 300.00                                 

Printing 3,500.00                              

Promotions 4,000.00                              

Rental 4,000.00                              

Repairs & Maintenance 1,500.00                              

Supplies 3,500.00                              

Taxes 8,500.00                              

Security 1,000.00                              

Screens 10,000.00                           

Armbands 2,000.00                              

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 212,950.00                      

REVENUES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES 7,800.00                          

OTHER FINANCIAL SOURCES
Loan Proceeds 0.00

Interest Income 40.00

City of Hays Grant 9,500.00

Equipment Purchases 0.00

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 9,540.00                          

EXCESS OF REVENUES & OTHER FINANCING
  Sources over (under) Expenditures                                1,740.00                              

& Other Financing Uses

Wild West Festival

Budget 2015

39



A Special Thanks To Our Sponsors

FIREWORKS 
SPECTACULAR FRIdAy, JULy 4Th - 10:00 P.m.

Wednesday, July 1st
mason & mallon - 6:00 pm

dALLAS SmITh - 7:30 Pm
PARmALEE - 9:30 Pm

Thursday, July 2nd
Clay davenport & The Sand Creek Band- 6:00 pm

OLd dOmINION - 7:30 Pm
JOE dIFFIE - 9:30 Pm

Friday, July 3rd
hannah Norris - 6:00 pm

TRIXTER - 7:30 Pm
STARShIP
featuring mickey Thomas - 9:30 Pm

Dermatology, P.A.

Copper’s
Carts

Hays Car & 
Truck

Alignment

Hadley
Center

Hays VFW 
Post 9076

One $15.00 Ticket is your Pass To All Concerts 
Ticket will be exchanged at the gate for armband to be worn during the entire event. Armband can be purchased at the gate for $25.00 per event.

Free Admission For Children 5 Years And Younger. For Ticket Information Contact: P. O. Box 1717 • Hays, KS 67601 • (785) 623-4476 • www.wildwestfestival.com

The Wild 
Rose

Butterfield Inn

40



TICKET OUTLETS
Hays

Dillons Stores - 1902 Vine / 27th & Hall

Wal-Mart - 4301 Vine

Cerv’s - 2701 Vine / 2722 Hall

Main Street Express - 1601 Main

Hays Welcome Center  - 27th & Vine

Regional
EZ Mart - 1409  Main, La Crosse

Klema Apple Market - 51 S. Fossil St., Russell
Plainville Short Stop -

601 S. Washington St., Plainville
Total Convenience - 106 W. Main, Victoria

A SPECIAL 
THANKS TO OUR 

SPONSORS

Shuttle Services courtesy of
The Hays Convention & Visitors Bureau

Pick up and drop off at Gross Memorial Coliseum and Lewis Field Stadium

6:00 p.m. - 9:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m. - 12:00 a.m.

July 1st, 2nd, & 3rd

ONE $15.00 TICKET IS YOUR
PASS TO ALL CONCERTS.

Armbands can be purchased at the gate for 
$25.00 per event. FREE ADMISSION FOR 
CHILDREN 5 YEARS & YOUNGER

$15 tickets are valid for the entire event and are 
nontransferable. Tickets will be exchanged for an 
armband at the gate to be worn for the entire event. 
Armbands that have been tampered with will be 
considered invalid and not accepted at the gates.

VIP PACKAGE SUMMARY
VIP tickets provide access to the private

 social area including complimentary 
beverages, a catered evening buffet and 

special seating at the concerts. 
VIP Tickets available at the Hays Welcome Center.

Gates to the VIP area open at 6 PM daily.
For information visit

www.wildwestfestival.com

FOR MORE INFORMATION CALL (785) 623-4476 or

http://www.wildwestfestival.com
Schedule of  Events subject to change. Events held at Hays 

Municipal Park, South Main St. Hays, KS unless otherwise 

specified

FIREWORKS 
SPECTACULAR

GATES OPEN AT 5:00 P.M.

Saturday, July 4th - 10:00 p.m.

Wednesday, July 1st

Friday, July 3rd 
Starship featuring Mickey Thomas 

9:30 p.m.

 Opening Guest: 
Clay Davenport &

The Sand Creek Band
6:00 p.m.

with special guest:  
Trixter 

7:30 p.m.

Opening Guest:
Hannah Norris 6:00 p.m.

7:30 p.m.

Hadley
Center

Hays VFW 
Post 9076

Parmalee• 9:30 p.m.
     with

special guest
Dallas Smith

Opening Guest: 
Mason & Mallon
6:00 p.m.

Thursday, July 2nd
Joe Diffie • 9:30 p.m.

     with
Special Guest

Old Dominion
7:30 p.m.

41



Name: ________________________________________

Address: _______________________________________

City: __________________________________________

State, Zip:______________________________________

                     No. of Tickets ________ x $15.00 per ticketm  

No. of VIP Pavillion Tickets_________ x $125.00 per ticket
 
                                                Total Amount $ __________

Plus $1.00 per ticket for shipping & handling $ _________

                           Total Amount Enclosed $ ________
Please send ticket order form with check or money order payable to:

Wild West Festival, Inc.
P.O. Box 1717 • Hays, Kansas 67601

(NO CASH PLEASE)

*Baseball Tournament
 Larks Park, Hays High, TMP Fields  .............. TBA
Take a break from the heat and cool off at The Mall
 Shop for all the latest styles ....................10am - 5pm
Visit Your Favorite Merchant In Downtown Hays -  
Eating, Shopping and Entertainment in the Chestnut Street District; 

only a short walk from the festival grounds. Hours Vary
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
MAIN STREET PARADE - 
Staying True to the Red, White & Blue ........ 10am
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Aquatic Fitness Mixer - This free event is a great way 
to introduce yourself  to our aquatic fitness classes. 
We will have a variety of  different workouts for you 
to sample; from step aerobics, to lazy river fitness, to 
our traditional water works classes. 

The Hays Aquatic Park  .................... 9:30am - 11am 
Independence Day Kids FREE Swim - 

 Take a break from the hot weather and fireworks and 
cool off  at the pool. Free admission will be given to 
those 15 years of  age and younger. The Hays Aquatic 
Park  ....................................................12pm - 7pm

Historical interpreter Dave Wood -  Will appear as Wild 
Bill Hickok (1837-1876). He will be in the saloon to deal faro 
and at 1:00 and 3:00pm to present programs on the legendary 
lawman (who was also sheriff  of  Ellis County). Steve Burns is 
slated to play Abraham Lincoln (2:00pm) in commemoration 
of  the Civil War Sesquicentennial (1861-1865). Jaime 
Schlesinger will portray Elizabeth Custer (2:30pm), whose 
husband George Armstrong Custer was stationed at Fort Hays 
after the Civil War. She will be accompanied by John Trabert 
as Captain Thomas Weir, 7th Cavalry, a close friend of  the 
custers.

 Ellis County Historical Society Museum ........10am - 5pm
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

FREE Fireworks Spectacular ... 10:00pm
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

*Admission not included in WWF ticket

SCHEDULE OF EVENTS

Wednesday, July 1st
Eagle’s Golden Egg Hunt - Sponsored by Eagle 
Communications, Inc. Clues released 

 9am & 2pm daily  ...................... www.eaglecom.net
Featured Summer Exhibition ..................................
 FREE admission Hays Arts Council .....10am - 4pm
Take a break from the heat and cool off at The Mall
 Shop for all the latest styles ....................10am - 9pm

Visit Your Favorite Merchant In Downtown Hays -  
Eating, Shopping and Entertainment in the Chestnut Street District; 
only a short walk from the festival grounds. Hours Vary

Historical interpreter Dave Wood -  Will appear as Wild 
Bill Hickok (1837-1876). He will be in the saloon to deal faro 
and at 1:00 and 3:00pm to present programs on the legendary 
lawman (who was also sheriff  of  Ellis County).

 Ellis County Historical Society Museum ........10am - 5pm
Festival Grounds Open 
 (WWF ticket/armband needed) .................5pm
VIP Area Opens at....................................6pm
 VIP meal Catered by Applebee’s

*Heart of America Carnival
 $20 armbands/Family night ............. 6pm - 10pm
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Country Artist
Parmalee ......................9:30pm
With Special Guest – Dallas Smith ..... 7:30pm
With Opening Guest - Mason & Mallon ....................... 6:00pm 
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Thursday, July 2nd
Eagle’s Golden Egg Hunt - Sponsored by Eagle 
Communications, Inc. Clues released 

 9am & 2pm daily  ...................... www.eaglecom.net
Featured Summer Exhibition ..................................
 FREE admission Hays Arts Council .....10am - 4pm
Take a break from the heat and cool off at The Mall
 Shop for all the latest styles ....................10am - 9pm

Visit Your Favorite Merchant In Downtown Hays -  
Eating, Shopping and Entertainment in the Chestnut Street District; 
only a short walk from the festival grounds. Hours Vary

Historical interpreter Dave Wood -  Will appear as Wild 
Bill Hickok (1837-1876). He will be in the saloon to deal faro 
and at 1:00 and 3:00pm to present  programs on the legendary 
lawman (who was also sheriff  of  Ellis County).

 Ellis County Historical Society Museum ........10am - 5pm

Festival Grounds Open
(WWF ticket/armband needed) .................. 5pm
VIP Area Opens at....................................6pm
 VIP meal Catered by Whiskey Creek

*Heart of America Carnival 
 $25 armbands............................... 6pm - 10pm

••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
Country Artist  
Joe Diffie .....................9:30pm
With Special Guest –Old Dominion ...... 7:30pm
With Opening Guest -Clay Davenport & The Sand Creek Band ......

6:00pm
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Friday, July 3rd
*Baseball Tournament 
 Larks Park, Hays High, TMP Fields ............... TBA
Eagle’s Golden Egg Hunt - Sponsored by Eagle 
Communications, Inc. Clues released 

 9am & 2pm daily  ...................... www.eaglecom.net
Featured Summer Exhibition ..................................
 FREE admission Hays Arts Council .....10am - 4pm

Historical interpreter Dave Wood -  Will appear as Wild 
Bill Hickok (1837-1876). He will be in the saloon to deal faro 
and at 1:00 and 3:00pm to present programs on the legendary 
lawman (who was also sheriff  of  Ellis County).

 Ellis County Historical Society Museum ........10am - 5pm
Take a break from the heat and cool off at The Mall
 Shop for all the latest styles ....................10am - 9pm

Visit Your Favorite Merchant In Downtown Hays -  
Eating, Shopping and Entertainment in the Chestnut Street District; 
only a short walk from the festival grounds. Hours Vary

Festival Grounds Open 
 (WWF ticket/armband needed) ................. 5pm
VIP Area Opens at....................................6pm
 VIP meal Catered by Hays VFW Post 9076
*Heart of America Carnival 
 $25 armbands...............................6pm - 10pm
All American Citizen Award
....................................................... 7:10pm
Eagle Communications 
 Golden Egg Winner.. .......................... 7:20pm

••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
Rock Artist
Starship featuring Mickey Thomas  ..9:30pm
With Special Guest – Trixter ........... 7:30pm
With Opening Guest - Hannah Norris ................... 6:00pm
••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••

Saturday, July 4th
*Wild West Fest 5K Run/Walk - Across from Hays 
Aquatic Park, Sponsored by FHSU Cross Country 
Team .................................................................8:00am

*HMC Center for Health Improvement Wild West 
Family Workout:  

 Meet at Larks Park Entrance ...................... 8:30am

Dermatology, P.A.

Hays Chevrolet

Copper’s
Carts

The Wild 
Rose

Hays Car & 
Truck Alignment

CUT HERE & MAIL

Butterfield Inn

42



City of Hays 
Outside Agency 

2016 Budget Request Form 
 
 

     Date of Request: __May 20, 2015__ 

 

Name of Organization Requesting Funding: Downtown Hays Development Corporation (DHDC) 

 

Amount of Request: $ 53,655    

 

Brief Description of Request for Funding: The DHDC requests this funding to assist with 

administrative and overhead costs associated with managing the organization, coordinating 

community volunteers, including Fort Hays State University student project teams, maintaining the 

programs and events initiated by volunteers, and to protect the downtown investments made by 

the City of Hays and local philanthropists, citizens, property owners and businesses.    

 

List outcomes for requested City funds: Continue to serve as the primary resource for 

Downtown Hays and the Chestnut Street District. To further the Downtown Hays vision through 

DHDC’s goals and objectives as defined in our Strategic Plan as well as our upcoming Marketing 

Plan. To help maintain the downtown district as a destination for travelers and social gathering 

location for citizens. To serve as a resource for downtown businesses and property owners. 

Coordinate community activities and events that make Downtown the heart of the community. 

Continue to build upon and improve the infrastructure and physical appeal of Downtown as defined 

in the City of Hays Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Has your organization received funding from the City of Hays before? yes   

If you answered “Yes”, please offer details of past funding by year including verification 
that the funds issued were used for the purpose intended:  
2015 – administrative - $53,655 
2014 – administrative - $53,655 
2013 – administrative - $53,655  
2012 – administrative - $53,655  
2011 – administrative - $53,655  
2010 – administrative - $53,655  
2009 – administrative - $59,617 
2008 - administrative - $58,050 
2007 – administrative - $56,650 and half of this went to the Fox Pavilion - $39,000 
2006 – administrative - $55,000 
2005 – administrative - $32,500 
2004 – façade loan program, streetscape, administrative - $50,000 
2003 – design assistance program, matching funds for historic district grant - $20,000 
2002 – façade loan and design assistance programs, administrative - $37,000 
2001 – National Development Council Consultant - $25,000 
2000 – Organizational Startup Funds & Building Fund - $100,000 

43



Will this funding request assist in offsetting municipal services?  If so, how? DHDC collects 

private sector input and leverages private dollars for downtown public projects. Downtown is never 

“finished” as its market is in constant flux and demands permanent management to stay attractive 

and economically sound. By funding this request you remove the sole responsibility of maintaining 

downtown from the City to a partnership with the community, which will then allow us to build upon 

the ideas and concepts being brought out through the Comprehensive Plan. Citizens volunteer 

time and money which help create a more viable business atmosphere which in turn creates 

additional revenue for the City through property and sales taxes.  

 

Number of Hays citizens directly and indirectly affected with requested City funds: There are 

over 200 businesses in Downtown Hays and over 1,000 employees working within those 

businesses. There are thousands of Hays citizens and visitors who attend community events and 

promotions coordinated by DHDC. All of those citizens plus the citizens that utilize downtown 

amenities, attractions and infrastructure are directly and indirectly affected.   

 

What actions will be taken if your funding request is denied or reduced this year and next? 

With the City’s continued financial assistance, DHDC will continue to work on behalf of the citizens 

and the city for a healthy and vibrant downtown. If this funding request is denied, DHDC will not be 

able to exist; DHDC uses city funding for ongoing operational expenses. Money for daily 

operational expenses is very hard to fundraise. DHDC has implemented and grown a Partnership 

Program and an annual fundraiser, Wines & Steins, as an investment in long term plans and goals. 

It is our responsibility to work together to continue to maintain and improve downtown’s public 

property and infrastructure, just like a private taxpayer is responsible to maintain his property. 

Continuing to invest in DHDC and public projects downtown allows DHDC to attract additional 

private funds to fulfill our long term goals. By assisting a downtown program that actively engages 

local citizens and leverages private dollars for improvements, a better business environment is 

created, more jobs are created and maintained, property and sales taxes increase which means 

more money for city projects and a healthy and appealing community image is portrayed. Without 

the funding from the city, the Downtown Hays Market and events such as The Taste, Fire on the 

Frontier BBQ Classic, Bargains on the Bricks, Wines & Steins and Frost Fest will cease to exist.  

 

Contact Information (Who do we call if we have questions about this application?):  

Sara Bloom, Executive Director, sara@downtownhays.com, 785.621.4171  

Sandy Jacobs, Board President, sandyj1950@gmail.com, 785.623.3693_   

 

Who will be presenting your request at the City Commission Work Session on                 

June 4, 2015?  Sara Bloom & Sandy Jacobs       

44



May 20, 2015 
 
Dear Mayor and City of Hays Commissioners,  
 
The Downtown Hays Development Corporation (DHDC) respectfully requests an 
appropriation of $53,655.00 for the 2016 fiscal year in order to manage and guide the 
continued redevelopment of Downtown Hays and the Chestnut Street District. This public 
investment from the City of Hays will allow the DHDC to continue leveraging private funds 
from philanthropists, citizens and private businesses to continue the community’s downtown 
revitalization efforts.  
 
The DHDC was formed in 2001 as a non-profit corporation established to foster community 
partnerships for the redevelopment of Downtown Hays. The corporation, which currently 
consists of 13 volunteer board members, a full-time Executive Director, one part-time 
Executive Assistant, volunteer task forces and interns from Fort Hays State University, strives 
to create an exciting and healthy downtown retail and social atmosphere. The DHDC Board of 
Directors recognizes that a healthy, viable Downtown Hays is crucial to the heritage, economic 
health and civic pride of the entire Hays community.  
 
Downtown Hays has made significant strides towards becoming the premier shopping, 
dining and entertainment destination we first envisioned more than ten years ago when we 
began the amazing journey of revitalization. In fact the DHDC is coming off of one of the 
most successful events we’ve ever orchestrated, “The Taste.” 21 Merchants participated and 
300 tickets were available. It was a sell out with the merchants requesting a similar, but 
longer event in the fall. We will continue to organize two “Taste” events per year at the 
request of the merchants. 
 
The DHDC Board of Directors and staff completed a new Strategic Plan in 2012 and aligned 
this plan with the City of Hays Comprehensive Plan. As is good practice the Strategic Plan 
is utilized on a monthly basis and will be reviewed and if necessary revised in its third year 
of existence, which is 2015. We remain dedicated to improve upon and enhance efforts in 
business support, event and promotion planning, streetscape improvements, fundraising and 
managing a great organization.  
 
New initiatives will complement these continued efforts as DHDC implements an extensive 
Marketing Plan of which will be presented at the June DHDC meeting. 
 
The third season of the Downtown Hays Market will kick off in June, with the last two years 
being wonderfully successful. Additionally, the third Core2Campus Kick – Off event will be 
held in August, with an anticipated 500 or more students in attendance. Other existing efforts 
include entrepreneurial and business resource support, Fire on the Frontier BBQ Classic, 
Bargains on the Bricks, Wines & Steins and the season of FrostFest. Future projects include 
improved signage and railroad corridor enhancements. 
 
The DHDC continues to partner with organizations like Fort Hays State University, Hays 
Area Chamber of Commerce, Ellis County Coalition for Economic Development, Hays 
Convention & Visitors Bureau and others that recruit visitors to our unique community. It is 
important that we continue to partner with the City of Hays to manage and invest in a 
premier destination and one of Hays’ most visited attraction – Downtown. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Sara Bloom, Executive Director 

 
 
 

 
 

2015 
Board of Directors 

 
Sandy Jacobs 

President 
 

Karen Dreiling 
Vice-President 

 
Alaina Cunningham 

Secretary 
 

Eddie Perrett 
Treasurer 

 
Andrew Rupp 
Past President 

 
Sarah Cearley 

 
Holly Haynes 

 
Kim Hodny 

 
Elodie Jones 

 
Justin McClung 

 
Shaun Musil 

 
Dustin Roths 

 
Jason Williby 

 
Stacey Smith 

Board Member Emeritus 
 
 
 

Like us on Facebook 
Follow us on Twitter 

Follow us on Pinterest 
www.DowntownHays.com 

45



2016 Budget for  
Hays City Commission 

 
Presented June 2015 

46



Mission: 
The mission of Downtown Hays Development Corporation is to foster awareness and promote 
Downtown Hays as a vibrant center of commerce, recreation, arts, government and history that 
serves the people of Hays, the surrounding region and visitors from around the world. DHDC will 
work to prevent the deterioration and enhance the viability of the community’s cultural centers, 
historical landmarks and public infrastructure important to the community’s economic and 
cultural well-being.  
(2012 DHDC Strategic Plan) 

 
What We Do: 
Since it was established in 2001 DHDC has and continues to advocate for Downtown Hays to 
help enable, promote and facilitate the community and economic development of the area as a 
desirable place to live, work, invest and visit. We do this through a variety of ways including, but 
not limited to, events, business recruitment and expansion efforts, collaborative marketing, 
aesthetic projects, historic preservation, capital investment and support of Downtown 
stakeholder initiatives.  

 
Community Impact: 
• Downtown Hays determined a “Key District” in the 2012 City Comprehensive Plan 
• Over $10.5 million private dollars have been reinvested in Downtown Hays buildings or 

businesses since  2001 
• Over $650,000 private dollars were raised to purchase initial buildings 
• Downtown Sales Tax collections make up 10.14%, roughly $1.2 million, of the City of Hays 

general sales tax collections at last available compilation (up from 6.26% in 2001) 
• Downtown Hays Market (est. 2013) now plays host to over 30 vendors 
• Partnership Program private donations average $17,991 annually (2009-2014) 
• Approximately 50+ businesses have started or relocated to Downtown since 2001 

47



Strategic Goals: 
Marketing Plan Completion and Execution 
Services were contracted with the FHSU Management Development Center (MDC). Research and 
development took place during the Spring of 2014. The plan was formally accepted by the DHDC 
board as a working document in early 2015 and likely will include a rebranding of the area. 
Continued follow up and execution will be completed in conjunction with the MDC, Downtown 
Merchants, Developers and other stakeholders.  
 
Physical Improvements 
Downtown Pavilion – DHDC applied for and received approval for construction of a facility to be 
used in part for the Downtown Market from Union Pacific Railroad. The organization will delay 
start until the City of Hays receives formal written approval for enhancement of the Railroad 
Corridor. Verbal approval has been received but all believe it judicious to wait for that approval in 
writing. The Core to Campus Corridor was developed to align with the City of Hays 
Comprehensive Plan. Private funding has been obtained and execution is top priority. 
 Downtown Hays Market was established in 2013 with plans to relocate the 
 market  to the Pavilion when complete.  The market plays host to over 30  
 vendors from Hays and the surrounding area. 
 
Annual Event Development and Continuation 
Current Annual Events (annual timing and approximate attendance) 
The Taste, Spring (April – 300) NEW 2015 
Downtown Hays Market (June-October - 200/wk) 
Fire on the Frontier BBQ Classic (June - 750+) RENAMED 2015 
Bargains on the Bricks (July - 500) STAND ALONE EVENT 2015 
Core 2 Campus (August – 600+) 
Wines & Steins (September – 350) 
The Taste, Fall (October – 300) NEW 2015 
FrostFest Season & Parade (November-December – 1250+)       

48



The Past Six Months: 
New Director, New Directions 
On February 2nd Sara Bloom began her role as the executive director of DHDC. Since her start 
DHDC has a renewed spirit of enthusiasm and determination. Under her direction new events 
are being created, new partnerships are being formed, and projects are moving forward. 
 
Beat the Bricks 
Sara, and her assistant Ashley O’Dwyer, are out visiting businesses each and every week. Both 
are committed to visiting a minimum of three businesses each week and it’s not unusual for 
them to surpass that. Not only are they getting to Downtown businesses but those throughout 
Hays that have an interest in improving our beautiful Downtown.  
 
New Events 
In April DHDC organized “The Taste,” a revitalization of “The Taste of Downtown.” This event was 
organized at the request of the Downtown merchants. Participating businesses provided a 
sample of local dining and the services they offer for ticket holders to enjoy. 300 tickets were 
sold at $12 each. DHDC sold out of tickets and had a waiting list of around 20 people. This event 
will take place again in October to promote the upcoming Holiday season Downtown. 
 
Blues, BBQ and Bargains has been renamed to “Fire on the Frontier BBQ Classic.” The event has 
also been moved from July to June, eliminating the conflict with the Ellis County Fair. The 
“Bargains” portion of the name of “Bargains on the Bricks,” our large sidewalk sale, will continue 
in July. This split effectively added a third new event to the DHDC calendar. We now organize and 
sponsor events in April, June, July, August, September, October, and December with plans to add 
more in the future. 
 

New Website 
On April 1 DHDC launched a new, more functional website design at www.DowntownHays.com. 
The site now allows users to access all of the organization’s registration forms, financially 
contribute, and purchase event tickets with ease. Soon an interactive map of businesses will also 
be available. On every page of the website DHDC acknowledges that we are partially funded by 
the City of Hays. Moving forward  this wording will also appear on all redesigned stationary and 
marketing materials. 

49



Downtown Defined: 
New Boundaries Established 
To better serve Downtown Hays and to act on a request of the Hays City Commissioners DHDC 
felt it necessary to revaluate the borders of the area we are committed to serve. In order to 
establish a defined Downtown the board combined the City of Hays Downtown Revitalization 
District, Chestnut Street District, and the borders previously used to by DHDC. The final area can 
be seen in the map below. 

50



Building Owners, Businesses and Business Owners: 
Interactive Map 

51

https://www.google.com/maps/d/viewer?mid=z6jj_r4rrVk4.kBSEGGnW0Afg


District Business Overview: 
 Total Employees: 4,542 
 Total Establishments: 411 
 Total Payroll: $178 Million 
 Total Retail Sales: $56 Million 
 Total State Sales Tax: $3.36 Million 
 
 
Information provided by the ECC on 5/19/2015 
Resource: North American Industry Classification System  

Downtown Community Funding: 
Dodge City pop. 28,075 
 City Employee $60,000 
 Promotions (2011-2014) $125,000 
 County Contributions $5,000 
 Market – managed and funded separately 
Emporia pop. 24,948 
 City Contributions $30,000 
 Market – managed and funded separately 
El Dorado pop. 12,900 
 City Contributions $30,000 
Garden City pop. 26.985 
 City Contributions $75,000 
 Market – managed and funded separately 
Hutchinson pop. 41.962 
 City Employee/Budget $128,000 
 Market – location provided by their 
 Downtown but managed and funded 
 separately 
McPherson pop. 13,218 
 City Contributions $26,000 
 Market – managed and funded separately 
Salina pop. 48,045 
 City Contributions $50,000 
 

District Population Overview: 
 2000 Total Population: 2,147 
 2010 Total Population: 2,351 
 2014 Total Population: 2,391 
 2019 Total Population: 2,524 
 Population Change 2000 to 2010: 9.5% 
 Population Change 2000 to 2014: 11.4% 
 Population Change 2010 to 2019: 7.4% 
 Population Change 2014 to 2019: 5.6% 
 
 
 DHDC Contributions: 
Blues, BBQ & Bargains (2005-2014) $203,795 
Downtown Organizations $39,165 
Other $164,630 
*includes team revenue and sales 
Core2Campus (2013-2014) $20,542 
Downtown Organizations $7,292 
Other $13,250 
Wines & Steins (2010-2014) $133,933 
Downtown Organizations $21,739 
Other $112,194 
*includes reservations and auction income 
FrostFest (2003-2014) $32,517 
Downtown Organizations $12,362 
Other $20,155 
Partnership Program (2009-2014) $107,950 
Downtown Organizations $16,550 
Other $91,400 
 
TOTAL $498,737 
Downtown Total $97,108 
Other Total $401,629 
*calculations based on the most up to date records 

52



Budget - 2015 
Income 
City of Hays $53,655 
Partnership Program $19,000 
Fundraiser $17,000 
Events/Activities $1,000 
Interest $150 
 
Total Income $90,805 
 
Expenses  
Personnel & Overhead $52,000 
Part-time Staff & Interns $9,700 
Outside Advertising $1705 
Memberships $1,500 
Education/Staff Development $1,500 
Business Networking $2,500 
Office Expenses $13,000 
Occupancy $3,900 
Organization/Directors Expenses $2,500 
Restricted Projects $2,500 
Total Expenses $90,805 

Proposed Budget - 2016 
Income 
City of Hays $53,655 
Partnership Program $20,000 
Fundraiser $20,000 
Grants $5,000 
Events/Activities $3,500 
Interest $150 
Total Income $102,305  
 
Expenses 
Personnel & Overhead $55,000 
Part-time Staff & Interns $10,000 
Outside Advertising $7,500 
Memberships $1,500 
Education & Staff Development $1,500.00 
Business Networking $2,805 
Office Expenses $13,000 
Occupancy $6,000 
Organization/Directors Expenses  $2,500 
Restricted Projects $2,500 
Total Expenses $102,305 

DHDC Budgets: 

53



2015 DHDC Board of Directors: 
Terms to end Dec. 31 of designated year – Three Year Terms 

2016 Alaina Cunningham - Secretary 
 Community Volunteer 
 913.302.5706 
 alaina_nesmith@yahoo.com 
 
2016 Eddie Perrett - Treasurer 
 TMP Marian Jr/Sr High 
 785.259.3087 
 ed_perrett@yahoo.com 
  
2017 Justin McClung 
 Nex-Tech, Inc. 
 785.650.4110 
 justin@nex-tech.com 
 
2016 Shaun Musil 
 Coca-Cola, City Commissioner 
 785.656.2171 
 shaun_musil@yahoo.com 
  
2017 Jason Williby 
 FHSU Foundation 
 785.656.3191  
 williby.jason@gmail.com 
 
2017 Dustin Roths 
 Diamond R Jewelry 
 785.731.6785 
 diamondrjewelry@gmail.com 
 
 Stacey Smith - Emeritus Member 
 FHSU 
 785.342.3585 
 slgsmith@fhsu.edu 

2016 Sandy Jacobs - President 
 Community Volunteer 
 785.623.3693 
 sandyj1950@gmail.com 
  
2015 Andrew Rupp - Past-President 
 Insurance Planning, Inc. 
 785.625.0845 
  
2015 Karen Dreiling - Vice-President 
 The Furniture Look 
 785.628.6263 
 furniturelook@yahoo.com 
  
2015 Sarah Cearley 
 Bella Luna & Simply Charmed 
 785.621.4929 
 bellaluna.hays@gmail.com 
 
2016 Holly Haynes 
 Midwest Energy, Inc. 
 785.639.1138 
 hhaynes@mwenergy.com 
 
2016 Kim Hodny 
 Community Volunteer 
 785.259.1482 
 khodny@hotmail.com 
 
2015 Elodie Jones 
 FHSU 
 913.961.7002 
 elodiejones@hotmail.com  

54



Sara Bloom, Executive Director 
 

Office Phone: 785.621.4171 
Cell Phone: 785.639.6671 

2700 Vine Street, Hays, KS 67601 
www.DowntownHays.com 

55



 

56



City of Hays 
Outside Agency 

2016 Budget Request Form 
 
 

 Date of Request:___May 20th ,2015 

 

Name of Organization Requesting Funding:  CARE Council     

              

 

Amount of Request: $ 164,000     

 

Brief Description of Request for Funding:  :  Social Service Funds support programs and 

services provided by health and human service organizations that compliment services provided 

by the City of Hays..           

              

             

              

             

              

 

List outcomes for requested City funds:  The CARE Council recommends funding for 14 

programs provided by 8 different agencies.  The outcomes for each program are part of the 

MEMO to the Hays City Commission which is included with this application.   

             

              

              

 

Has your organization received funding from the City of Hays before? YES   

 

If you answered “Yes”, please offer details of past funding by year including verification 

that the funds issued were used for the purpose intended: An Eight Year History of 

Funding from the City of Hays is attached.  With the 2011 budget request for Social Service 

Funds, the CARE Council began recommending funding based upon a program budget instead 

of providing general operating expenses for the health and human service agency.  The 

program specific budgets reflect that the funding from the City of Hays was used to provide the 

program during the previous year.         

              

57



 

 

 

Will this funding request assist in offsetting municipal services?  If so, how?    

 Please refer to the attached MEMO.        

             

              

              

             

              

 

Number of Hays citizens directly and indirectly affected with requested City funds:   

 Please refer to the attached MEMO.         

              

             

              

 
What actions will be taken if your funding request is denied or reduced this year and 

next?   Please refer to the attached MEMO.       

             

              

              

              

 

Contact Information (Who do we call if we have questions about this application?):   

 Erica Berges, Administrative Assistant  United Way of Ellis County  at 785-628-8281 

              

 

Who will be presenting your request at the City Commission Work Session on            

June 4, 2015? Nikki Adams CARE Council Chair and Josh Dreher, President of  United Way of 

Ellis County Board of Directors             

             

          

 

58



The CARE Council 
“A Partnership for Building a Better Tomorrow” 

 

 

 

Chair 

Nikki Adams 

Board of Directors 

United Way of Ellis 

County 

 

Ellis County 

Appointees 

 

Dr. Kate McGonigal  

 

Kelly Fross 

 

John Braun 

 

Jim Heunergarde 

 

City of Hays 

Appointees 

 

Kim Thomason 

 

Olga Detrixe 

 

Kayla Lonnon 

 

 

 

United Way of Ellis 

County 

 

Jude Fox 

 

Kara Denton 

 

Terry Siek 

 

Nikki Adams 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMO 

 

TO:  Hays City Commission 

FROM:  Nikki Adams, Chair 

The CARE Council 

DATE:  May 20, 2015 

RE:  Request for 2016 Social Service Funds 

 

The CARE Council requests $164,000 in Social Service Funds for 2016. 

 

In 2003 the City of Hays affirmed its commitment to funding social services in our 

community when it adopted a budget resolution establishing a Social Service line item in 

the budget.  The Commission reaffirmed a belief contained in the 1994 City of Hays 

Strategic Plan that there were certain indispensable attributes required for a healthy 

community.  These attributes went beyond brick and mortar; they were safety and 

security, volunteerism, dignity and an appreciation of the value of all citizens, from the 

very young to the very old. 

 

The criteria for programs and agencies receiving Social Service Funds are: 

1. Provide critical service(s) which complement the services provided by the 

City of Hays; 

2. Services that are not duplicated by other agencies; and, 

3. Services that receive contributions from the Citizens of Hays. 

 

The CARE Council was established in 1992 and the process has evolved over the past 23 

years.  The Chair of the Council is a member of the Board of Directors of United Way of 

Ellis County.  She works with the four teams of volunteers to ensure that the process is 

consistent among the teams. 

 

The United Way of Ellis County, the City of Hays and Ellis County each appoint four 

representatives to the Council.  They are divided into four teams with three members 

each.  They review applications in the focus areas of Children and Youth Programs, 

Community and Neighborhood Programs, Family and Individual Programs and Health 

and Rehabilitation Programs.  Each team makes a program funding recommendation for 

each program it reviews. 

 

In 2009, the United Way of Ellis County went to program funding.  Instead of making 

one allocation to the agency’s general fund, the funds were distributed to the programs 

offered by the agency.  This process was used to make funding recommendations for 

Social Service Funds for 2016. 

 

59



The CARE Council application does require each program to have identified outcomes which includes a 

change in the knowledge, behavior, attitudes and beliefs of the individuals in the program.  The agency 

must also have a process to measure progress toward achieving those outcomes.  The agencies are still 

refining their outcomes and their measurement tools. 

 

The CARE Council has, in the past, recommended funding for programs that have an impact on the quality 

of life in Hays as well as provide support to local businesses.  For the 2016 funding cycle, the CARE 

Council asked the agencies for clarification on how their services fit the criteria for programs and agencies 

receiving Social Service Fund.  This question was included on the CARE Council application for funding.  

Every agency requesting Social Service Funding justified to the Council how it offsets municipal services. 

 

For 2016, the funding requests for Social Service funding exceeded the amount available for allocation by 

$11,742.  The CARE Council members worked hours reviewing applications, making site visits, and 

gathering additional information in order to develop their funding recommendations. 

 

The CARE Council requests $164,000 in Social Service Funds for 2016 and recommends the following 

distribution: 

 

 ACCESS Transportation through DSNWK 

  ACCESS transportation      $79,872 

 First Call for Help of Ellis County     

  I & R/Emergency Aid      $13,963 

  Transient Aid       $  6,866 

  Education and Prevention Program    $  6,982 

 Big Brothers Big Sisters of Ellis County 

  Community/School Based Mentoring    $23,200 

 Hays Senior Center 

  Meal Site       $13,800 

 American Red Cross, Ellis County Chapter 

  Health and Safety                  $  2,438 

  Services to Armed Forces     $  1,025 

  Biomedical Services (Blood Services)    $     983 

  Disaster Services      $  2,054 

 Options (Formerly NW KS Domestic and Sexual Violence Services) 

  24 hour crisis-line service     $  3,138 

  Safe Shelter       $  2,179 

 CASA of the High Plains, Inc. 

  Child Abuse Awareness Action     $  6,000 

 Cancer Council of Ellis County 

  Sunscreen Education Program     $  1,500 

  

 

 Total         $164,000 

 

 

60



Description of Social Service Programs 

 

 

ACCESS Transportation at Developmental Services of Northwest Kansas 

ACCESS Transportation is a general public transportation system that provides rides to many of the 

citizens of Hays and Ellis County allowing them the ability to obtain and keep employment; take care of 

the social services, shopping, recreation, medical, spiritual, and personal needs.  ACCESS provided 70,694 

rides over the past fiscal year to the citizens of Hays and Ellis County.   

 

Without this service in Hays, many of our citizens would go without basic needs. 

The team recommends Social Service Funds because ACCESS provides critical services which 

complement the service provided by the City of Hays. 

 

 

First Call for Help of Ellis County  

Information and Referral/Emergency Aid – In 2014, 949 clients were linked with the resources to avoid 

homelessness, utility disconnection and other basic necessities.   

The outcome of the program is to meet basic human needs so individuals and families can remain safe and 

secure.   

The program keeps people living in their homes with their utilities on and not on the streets.  It also allows 

disabled/elderly with health problems to keep their homes at a comfortable temperature. Many keep their 

homes at a temperature well below average to keep their utilities affordable. 

Transient Aid – In 2014, 326 individuals received food, shelter, and fuel to continue to their destinations 

after being stranded in Hays.  These were not Hays residents but individuals who were stranded in Hays 

while traveling. 

The outcome of the program is to assist individuals with the services needed to help them continue their 

journeys.   

All funding for this program was shifted to the City of Hays Social Service funds in 2010.  First Call staff 

and volunteers work closely with the Hays Police Department to ensure those stranded in our community 

are treated with dignity while ensuring that they have the opportunity to leave our community.  If these 

individuals were left stranded and homeless in Hays, some may use illegal means to meet their basic needs. 

New Directions (formerly Education & Prevention) – In the past, the number of clients served has varied 

from 45 to 6.  This past year 24 clients were served through this program in 2014.  They were provided 

intensive case management to help them gain the life skills necessary to become financially self-sufficient.  

City of Hays Social Service provides the resources necessary to help prevent individuals and families from 

becoming homeless or having utilities disconnected.  The program also enables a person to remain 

employed which impacts the productivity of local businesses. 

The team recommends Social Service Funds because First Call for Help provides critical services which 

complement the service provided by the City of Hays. 

 

Big Brothers Big Sisters of Ellis County  

Community/School Based Mentoring -- This program links children at risk (low income, single parent, 

etc.) with positive adult mentors.  The agency reports that it matched 230 youth in 2014 and matched an 

additional 113 Ellis County youth with positive role models.  Of the children matched, 60% showed an 

61



improvement in attitude toward school and 60% with delinquency problems were able to stay out of 

trouble.  These outcomes indicate that those youth will have less contact with local law enforcement. 

This program qualifies for Social Service Funds because youth have greatly reduced contact with law 

enforcement and are able to avoid being put into detention centers or jail. 

 

Hays Senior Center 

Meal Site - has been providing a low-cost meal for seniors since 1976.  A site for the federal 

HOMESTEAD Nutrition Project, this site serves meals Monday through Friday to individuals who are over 

the age of 60 or who have a disability.  With a medical waver, the meal can also be delivered to a home.   

In 2014, 14,103 congregate meals were provided at the Senior Center.  Approximately 16,235 meals were 

delivered to the home. 

Meal Site provides one nutritious meal for seniors on a daily basis which helps many of them to maintain 

their independence.  The Center also provides an opportunity for social interaction with other seniors which 

enhances their psychological well-being and gives them a sense of community engagement.  

The CARE Council recommendation is one-half the projected rent for 2016.  This recommendation takes 

into consideration the informal arrangement where the City of Hays and Ellis County each pay one-half of 

the rent of the facility.  This arrangement was made when the Senior Center had to assume rent expense 

when the original facility was sold to private investors. 

 

American Red Cross 

Health and Safety – In 2014, 558 people were engaged to promote community health and safety.  643 

students enrolled in the Learn-to-Swim program and 347 people became an instructor in CPR/FA and/or 

Water Safety. 

An increase in obesity, independent senior living and fast-paced lifestyles results in more workplace 

accidents, heart disease and the need for emergency assistance outside of a medical facility.  Increase 

knowledge for local citizens so that they can provide immediate care to victims while waiting for first 

responders.   

Disaster Services – In 2014, Ellis County Red Cross helped 106 adults and 18 children with emergency 

shelter.  211 community members were mobilized toward completion of the disaster services. 

The outcome for the program is to provide emergency needs within the first 30 days of a disaster and to 

allow disaster victims the ability to resume normal life activities and focus on the recovery process. 

Services to the Armed Forces – In 2014, the Red Cross provided assistance to 42 households in the 

Armed Forces.  The outcome for the program is to increase knowledge and community awareness 

regarding the service the Red Cross provides to members of the military and their families.   

Biomedical Services (Blood Services) – The outcome for the program is to increase awareness regarding 

the importance of blood donation. 

The team recommends Social Service Funds because the American Red Cross provides critical services 

which complement the service provided by the City of Hays. 

 

Options (Formerly Northwest Kansas Domestic and Sexual Violence Services, Inc.) 

The staff of Options explained that the name change reflects the “options” provided by the organization to 

victims of domestic violence or sexual assault.  The organization seeks to empower victims so they can 

make their own choices. 

62



Safe Shelter – Social Service funds a home for women leaving a domestic violence situation.  In 2014, 72 

women and children were sheltered.  The outcome is to provide a safe environment so a victim and her 

family can begin to heal. 

Safe shelter allows law enforcement to protect the victim by moving them into a secure environment.  

Advocates also assist law enforcement personnel in providing support and advocacy for the victims. 

24 hour crisis-line – In 2014, 273 City of Hays residents called the crisis line. 

The crisis line helps callers identify community resources as well as make a referral to shelter if necessary. 

The crisis line provides information to victims which could encourage the victim to leave an unsafe 

situation before it escalates and law enforcement needs to be contacted.  

The team recommends Social Service Funds because Options provides critical services which complement 

the services provided by the City of Hays. 

 

CASA of the High Plains, Inc. 

Court Appointed Special Advocates are trained volunteers who help Children in Need of Care (CINCs) get 

a safe and permanent home.  In 2014, 92 new CINCs cases were served by this program.   

A child who is abused or neglected is determined to be a Child in Need of Care.  Removing the child 

prevents further abuse which could result in contact with law enforcement. 

The team recommends Social Service Funds because, when children are removed from the family, there 

was less contact with the law enforcement. 

 

Cancer Council of Ellis County  

Sunscreen Education Program – The agency has a partnership with the Hays Recreation Commission to 

distribute sunscreen and educational materials at the Hays Aquatic Park and through the summer sports 

programs.  In 2014, 8000 individuals improved their health by the distribution of sunscreen packets and 

access to sunscreen pump stations at the city pools and special events. 

The program outcome is to reduce the incidence of skin cancer.  Regular sun protection throughout 

childhood can reduce the risk of skin cancer by 80%.   

The sunscreen pump stations used at outdoor venues increases the visibility of the Cancer Council while 

encouraging people to use sunscreen to prevent cancer.   

 

 

 

 

63



Human Resource/Social Service Fund

City of Hays

8-year History

AGENCY 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
American Red Cross, Ellis Co. Chapter 8,000.00$         8,000.00$         

Health and Safety 4,000.00$         4,000.00$         4,000.00$        4,945.00$      4,945.00$      4,669.00$      

Disaster Services 4,000.00$         4,000.00$         4,000.00$        2,555.00$      2,555.00$      2,831.00$      

Big Brothers Big Sisters 13,000.00$       14,000.00$       
Community/School Based Mentoring 17,500.00$       18,000.00$       18,000.00$      23,200.00$    23,200.00$    23,200.00$    

Cancer Council 2,500.00$         2,000.00$         
Nutritional Supplement 500.00$            

Sunscreen Education Program 1,500.00$         2,000.00$         1,500.00$        1,500.00$      1,500.00$      1,500.00$      

CASA of the High Plains 4,500.00$         6,250.00$         
CASA Program 6,800.00$         6,800.00$         6,800.00$        6,800.00$      6,800.00$      5,000.00$      

First Call for Help 27,700.00$       30,970.00$       
Information and Referral/Financial Aid 13,500.00$       13,500.00$       13,500.00$      13,500.00$    13,500.00$    14,000.00$    

Transient Aid 10,000.00$       10,000.00$       10,000.00$      9,900.00$      9,900.00$      6,700.00$      

Education and Prevention Program 5,500.00$         5,500.00$         5,500.00$        5,500.00$      5,500.00$      8,050.00$      

Hays Area Children's Center 5,200.00$         7,000.00$         
Child Care Scholarships 5,200.00$         5,200.00$         5,200.00$        -$              -$              -$              

NW KS Domestic & Sexual Violence Services* 6,000.00$         6,000.00$         
24-hour Crisis Line 3,000.00$         4,784.00$         4,784.00$        2,031.00$      1,931.00$      1,931.00$      

Safe Shelter 4,000.00$         2,216.00$         2,216.00$        3,534.00$      3,434.00$      3,434.00$      

Hays Senior Center 12,600.00$       12,780.00$       
Meal Site 16,500.00$       13,000.00$       12,166.00$      13,600.00$    13,800.00$    13,800.00$    

DSNWK Access Transportation 77,000.00$       72,000.00$       
ACCESS Transportation 72,000.00$       72,000.00$       73,336.00$      75,000.00$    76,935.00$    77,385.00$    

WKS Association on the Concerns of the Disabled 
Transportation to Work Voucher 3,000.00$         3,000.00$        1,935.00$      -$              1,500.00$      

TOTAL FUNDS 156,500.00$     159,000.00$     164,000.00$     164,000.00$     164,002.00$    164,000.00$  164,000.00$  164,000.00$  

*Changed name to Options

64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



City of Hays 
Outside Agency 

2016 Budget Request Form 
 
 

     Date of Request:__May 20th, 2015 

 

Name of Organization Requesting Funding: CARE Council      

              

 

Amount of Request: $ 60,000    

 

Brief Description of Request for Funding: Funds in the Special Alcohol Tax Fund are 

expended on the purchase, establishment, maintenance or expansion of services for programs 

whose principal purpose is alcoholism and drug abuse prevention and education, alcohol and 

drug detoxification, intervention in alcohol  and drug abuse or treatment of persons who are 

alcoholic or drug abusers or are in danger of becoming alcoholics or drug abusers.  

              

 

List outcomes for requested City funds:  The CARE Council recommends funding for two 

agencies that provide prevention, intervention and treatment for individuals with alcohol or drug 

addiction.  The outcomes for each agency are included in the MEMO attached to this budget 

form.             

              

 

Has your organization received funding from the City of Hays before? YES   

 

If you answered “Yes”, please offer details of past funding by year including verification 

that the funds issued were used for the purpose intended: An Eight Year History of 

Funding from the City of Hays is attached.  With the 2011 budget request for Special Alcohol 

Tax Funds, the CARE Council began recommending funding based upon a program budget 

instead of providing general operating expenses for the prevention and treatment agency  The 

program specific budgets reflect that the funding from the City of Hays was used to provide the 

program during the previous year.         

             

             

              

 

81



 

 

Will this funding request assist in offsetting municipal services?  If so, how?    

 No, Special Alcohol Tax Funds are governed by a State Statute which states that the 

funds must be expended on the purchase, establishment, maintenance or expansion of services 

for programs whose principal purpose is alcoholism and drug abuse prevention and education, 

alcohol and drug detoxification, intervention in alcohol and drug abuse or treatment of persons 

who are alcoholics or drug abusers or are in danger of becoming alcoholics and drug abusers.  

             

              

 

Number of Hays citizens directly and indirectly affected with requested City funds:   

 Please refer to the attached MEMO         

              

             

              

 
What actions will be taken if your funding request is denied or reduced this year and 

next?   The agencies will seek additional funding before reducing services or reducing 

staff.             

              

             

              

             

              

 

Contact Information (Who do we call if we have questions about this application?):   

 Erica Berges, Administrative Assitant, United Way of Ellis County  at 785-628-8281 

              

 

Who will be presenting your request at the City Commission Work Session on            

June 4, 2015?  Nikki Adams, CARE Council Chair and Josh Dreher, President, United 

Way of Ellis County           

             

      

 

82



The CARE Council 
“A Partnership for Building a Better Tomorrow” 

 

 

 

Chair 

Nikki Adams 

Board of Directors 

United Way of Ellis 

County 

 

Ellis County 

Appointees 

 

Dr. Kate McGonigal 

 

Kelly Fross 

 

John Braun 

 

Jim Huenergarde 

 

City of Hays 

Appointees 

 

Kim Thomason 

 

Olga Detrixe 

 

Kayla Lonnon 

 

 

United Way of Ellis 

County 

 

Nikki Adams 

 

Terry Siek 

 

Kara Denton 

 

Jude Fox 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Descriptions of Programs 

 

 

MEMO 

 

TO:  Hays City Commission 

FROM:  Nikki Adams, Chair 

The CARE Council 

DATE:  May 20, 2015 

RE:  Request for 2016 Funding from Special Alcohol Tax Fund 

 

The CARE Council requests that the Hays City Commission budget $60,000 in Special 

Alcohol Tax Funds for 2016. 

 

The budget request of $60,000 provides a continuum of services (prevention, intervention 

and treatment).  The Council believes this is the best use of these funds.  The CARE Council 

believes that local agencies provide quality services and are fiscally sound. 

 

The CARE Council believes that money invested in the continuum of services benefits the 

City of Hays.  With increased incomes, individuals have more purchasing power.  With a 

decrease in repeat offenses, law enforcement is not stretched too thin.  By encouraging and 

developing healthy behaviors, our children will grow up to be more productive citizens. 

 

The CARE Council used the following priorities established by the Hays City Commission 

in evaluating the applications for Alcohol Tax Funds: 

1. Quality of programs as demonstrated through the application for funding;  

2. Agencies that serve City of Hays residents and provide services to indigent 

clients as well as self-paying and insured clients; 

3. Programs that show evidence of coordination with existing agencies that have 

alcohol abuse programs; 

4. Agencies that demonstrate they refer compromised individuals to recognized and 

accredited programs; and,  

5. Number of clients served. 

 

The CARE Council recommends the following distribution of City of Hays Alcohol  

 

DREAM, Inc. 

 Intervention Treatment Program    $32,000 

 

Smoky Hill Foundation for Chemical Dependency, Inc. 

 Primary Outpatient Treatment    $15,500 

 YES       $12,500 

83



DREAM, Inc. 

Intervention Treatment Program – Alcohol Tax Funds allow this agency to offer the only intensive 

services for teens and their families as well as specialized services for children of addicted families.   

Special Alcohol Tax Funds from the city of Hays are used to provide free or reduced fee services 

including a year round support group, evaluations for school and family referrals, co-joint family 

counseling and consultations for family members of addicts.  This program served 684 Hays residents in 

2014.  The program is intended to reduce use of alcohol and drugs, increase attendance at school and 

work sites, reduce problems within the family and reduce contacts with law enforcement. 

 

Smoky Hill Foundation for Chemical Dependency, Inc. 

Primary Outpatient – Ninety-three individuals were served by this program in 2014.  Of those clients, 

96% reported no alcohol use after the program.  Ninety percent of clients reported being employed full-

time and 7% reported an increase in number of days worked. 

 

Youth Education Safety Class – This class is for young people who have had a contact with law 

enforcement due to delinquent behavior.  24 youth and 27 parents/guardians attended the one day class in 

2014. Youth demonstrated a 24% increase in knowledge following the course and parents/guardians 

demonstrated a 17% increase in knowledge following the course. Of the students who returned the 

follow-up survey at the end of three months, 100% indicated no further involvement with the law. 

Additionally, the results of a one-year follow-up on 32 of the participants indicated 92% had no further 

involvement with the law since attending the YES program. 

 

84



Alcohol Tax Fund

City of Hays

8-Year History

Agency 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

DREAM, Inc. 28,000.00$  30,000.00$  

Family Treatment Program 30,000.00$  30,000.00$   35,000.00$   24,000.00$  30,000.00$  32,500.00$  

Regional Prevention Center 15,000.00$  

Smoky Hill Foundation 17,000.00$  27,850.00$  

Primary Outpatient 10,850.00$  11,340.00$   11,924.00$   18,000.00$  13,200.00$  13,750.00$  

Women's Outpatient 6,650.00$    6,540.00$     6,800.00$     -$             -$             -$             

On-Call Tutoring 9,500.00$    

YES 4,500.00$    17,320.00$   17,500.00$   18,000.00$  16,800.00$  13,750.00$  

Carryover Funds

Hidden Heroes 8,000.00$    8,000.00$    8,000.00$    -$             -$             

TOTAL FUNDS 68,000.00$  65,850.00$  69,500.00$  65,200.00$   71,224.00$   60,000.00$  60,000.00$  60,000.00$  

85



86



87



88



89



90



91



 

92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



 

112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



 

122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



 

136



Commission Work Session Agenda  
Memo  

 
From:   Kim Rupp, Director of Finance  
 
Work Session:   June 4, 2015  
 
Subject: Ordinance and Resolution to Authorize the 

Issuance of General Obligation Bonds Series 
2015A  

 
Person(s) Responsible:  Kim Rupp, Director of Finance 
 
 

Summary 
On June 11, 2015, the City will take bids for the purchase of approximately $1,010,000 
of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015A (the "Bonds").   Attached to this memo are 
drafts of an ordinance and resolution to be adopted by the Commission to authorize the 
issuance of the Bonds.  Final versions of the ordinance and resolution, as well as final 
payment terms on the Bonds, will be made available by George K. Baum & Co., the 
City's Financial Advisor, and Gilmore & Bell, P.C., the City's Bond Counsel after the sale 
of the Bonds and before the Commission meeting.  Staff recommends approval of both 
the ordinance and resolution for the General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015A. 
 

Background  
The Golden Belt 5th Addition and 46th Street 2nd  Addition improvement district projects 
are complete, the assessments have been levied, and the projects are ready to be financed.  
On May 14, 2015, the Commission approved Resolution No. 2015-011 authorizing the 
offering for sale of the Bonds.  
 
A summary of the bonds to be issued for these projects is as follows: 
 

Project Description Ord/Res No. Authority Principal Amount  
Golden Belt 5th-Danby 2013-021 K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq. $295,632.29 
Golden Belt 5th-Jagger 2013-023 K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq. $262,784.26 
46th Street 2nd                                 2012-015 K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq. $453,951.60 

 Total Bonds to be Issued:  $1,012,368.15 
 
Prepayments of special assessments are due by May 27, 2015.  Any prepayments 
received will be used to reduce the amount of Bonds issued. 
 

 
 
 

137



Discussion 
Payments on the Bonds are expected to be made from special assessment revenues 
received by the City with respect to the two benefit district projects being financed with 
the Bonds.  Interest payments on the Bonds begin on March 1, 2016 and the first 
principal payment will be due September 1, 2016.    
 
The City will also be applying to Standard & Poor’s for a rating on the Bonds. The last 
issue for the City received a AA- rating and has since been improved to a AA. Changing 
market conditions and investor preferences have led to the decision to seek the rating. 
 
If the ordinance and resolution are approved, Staff will work with the Financial Advisor 
and Bond Counsel to complete all of the necessary steps to close the bond issue.  Bond 
proceeds are expected to be available to the City on July 1, 2015. 
 

Legal Consideration 
There are no known legal obstacles to proceeding as recommended by City staff. 
 

Financial Consideration 
Final terms of the Bonds will be provided to the Commission following the sale on June 
11, 2015.  Below is a preliminary estimate of the financial terms of the Bonds. 
 
Total bond issue will be approximately $1,010,000.00.  These bonds will be paid from 
special assessment revenues received by the City as property owners within the 
improvement district pay their tax bills. 
 
Total cost of issuance is approximately $27,450.00.  This covers the paying agent, 
Kansas Attorney General, CUSIP service bureau, Bond Counsel, Financial Advisor, 
Bond Rating and Publication and Printing.  More detail will be provided in a final sizing 
calculation document provided by George K Baum & Company after the sale on June 11. 
 

Options 
The City Commission has the following options: 

 Approve the attached ordinance and resolution authorizing the 
issuance of Bonds 

 Provide staff with further direction 
 

Recommendation 
Staff recommends approval of the ordinance and resolution. 
 

Action Requested 
Approve Ordinance authorizing and providing for the issuance of General Obligation 
Bonds Series 2015A 

 
and 
 

Approve Resolution prescribing the form and details of and authorizing and directing the 
sale and delivery of General Obligation Bonds Series 2015A. 
 

138



Supporting Documentation 
Excerpt of Minutes 
Ordinance 
Ordinance Summary for Publication 
Bond Resolution 

139



 

Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 
Draft:  May 13, 2015 

Bond Ordinance and Resolution v1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[G.O. BASIC DOCUMENTS] 
 

 
 A. Excerpt of Minutes of Meeting approving sale, approving Ordinance/Bond Resolution 
 B. Ordinance 
 C. Ordinance Summary for Publication 
 D. Bond Resolution 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

140



 

 

EXCERPT OF MINUTES OF A MEETING 
OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF 
THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS 

HELD ON JUNE 11, 2015 
 
 The governing body met in regular session at the usual meeting place in the City, at 6:30 p.m., the 
following members being present and participating, to-wit: 
 
 Present:  ___________________________________________________________________. 
 
 Absent:  ____________________________________________________________. 
 
 The Mayor declared that a quorum was present and called the meeting to order. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

(Other Proceedings) 
 
 The Finance Director reported that pursuant to the Notice of Bond Sale previously duly given, 
bids for the purchase of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A, dated July 1, 2015, of the City had 
been received.  A tabulation of said bids is set forth as EXHIBIT A hereto. 
 
 Thereupon, the governing body reviewed and considered the bids and it was found and 
determined that the bid of ____________________________________________________________, 
was the best bid for the Bonds, a copy of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT B. 
 
 Thereupon, there was presented an Ordinance entitled: 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2015-A, OF THE CITY OF HAYS, 
KANSAS; PROVIDING FOR THE LEVY AND COLLECTION OF AN ANNUAL 
TAX FOR THE PURPOSE OF PAYING THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST 
ON SAID BONDS AS THEY BECOME DUE; AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER 
DOCUMENTS AND ACTIONS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND MAKING 
CERTAIN COVENANTS WITH RESPECT THERETO. 

 
 Thereupon, Councilmember ____________________ moved that said Ordinance be passed.  The 
motion was seconded by Councilmember ____________________.  Said Ordinance was duly read and 
considered, and upon being put, the motion for the passage of said Ordinance was carried by the vote of 
the governing body, the vote being as follows: 
 
 Yea:            . 
 
 Nay:            . 
 
 Thereupon, the Mayor declared said Ordinance duly passed and the Ordinance was then duly 
numbered Ordinance No. ______, was signed and approved by the Mayor and attested by the Clerk and 
the Ordinance or a summary thereof was directed to be published one time in the official newspaper of the 
City. 
 
 Thereupon, there was presented a Resolution entitled: 

141



 

2 

 
A RESOLUTION PRESCRIBING THE FORM AND DETAILS OF AND 
AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE SALE AND DELIVERY OF GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2015-A, OF THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS, 
PREVIOUSLY AUTHORIZED BY ORDINANCE NO. ______ OF THE ISSUER; 
MAKING CERTAIN COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE PAYMENT AND SECURITY THEREOF; AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN 
OTHER DOCUMENTS AND ACTIONS CONNECTED THEREWITH. 

 
 Thereupon, Councilmember ____________________ moved that said Resolution be adopted.  
The motion was seconded by Councilmember ____________________.  Said Resolution was duly read 
and considered, and upon being put, the motion for the adoption of said Resolution was carried by the 
vote of the governing body, the vote being as follows: 
 
 Yea:            . 
 
 Nay:            . 
 
 Thereupon, the Mayor declared said Resolution duly adopted and the Resolution was then duly 
numbered Resolution No. ______ and was signed by the Mayor and attested by the Clerk. 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

(Other Proceedings) 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 

142



 

 (Signature Page to Excerpt of Minutes) 

 On motion duly made, seconded and carried, the meeting thereupon adjourned. 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I hereby certify that the foregoing Excerpt of Minutes is a true and correct excerpt of the 
proceedings of the governing body of the City of Hays, Kansas, held on the date stated therein, and that 
the official minutes of such proceedings are on file in my office. 
 
 
 
(SEAL)              
        Clerk 
 

143



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
BID TABULATION 

 

144



 

B-1 

EXHIBIT B 
 

(BID OF PURCHASER) 
 
 

145



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. _______ 
 
 

OF 
 
 

CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS 
 
 

PASSED 
 
 

JUNE 11, 2015 
 

____________________ 
 
 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
SERIES 2015-A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

146



 

1 

(PUBLISHED IN THE HAYS DAILY NEWS ON _______________, 2015) 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2015-A, OF THE CITY OF HAYS, 
KANSAS; PROVIDING FOR THE LEVY AND COLLECTION OF AN ANNUAL 
TAX FOR THE PURPOSE OF PAYING THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST 
ON SAID BONDS AS THEY BECOME DUE; AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER 
DOCUMENTS AND ACTIONS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND MAKING 
CERTAIN COVENANTS WITH RESPECT THERETO. 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Hays, Kansas (the “City”) is a city of the second class, duly created, 
organized and existing under the Constitution and laws of the State; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq., as amended, and other provisions of the laws of 
the State of Kansas applicable thereto, by proceedings duly had, the governing body of the City has 
authorized the following improvements (the “Improvements”) to be made in the City, to-wit: 
 

Project Description Res. No. Project Costs 
46th Street Second Addition 2012-015 $453,951.60 
Golden Belt Estates Fifth Addition – Danby Lane 2013-021 295,632.29 
Golden Belt Estates Fifth Addition – Jagger Court 2013-023 262,784.26 
   $1,012,368.15 

 
; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the governing body of the City is authorized by law to issue general obligation 
bonds of the City to pay the costs of the Improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, none of such general obligation bonds previously authorized have been issued and 
the City proposes to issue $[PRINCIPAL AMOUNT] of its general obligation bonds to pay a portion of 
the costs of the Improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the governing body of the City has advertised the sale of the Bonds in accordance 
with the law and at a meeting held in the City on this date awarded the sale of such Bonds to the best 
bidder. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF HAYS, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 Section 1.   Definitions of Words and Terms.  In addition to words and terms defined elsewhere 
herein, the following words and terms in this Ordinance shall have the meanings hereinafter set forth.  
Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words importing the singular number shall include the plural 
and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms, associations and corporations, including 
public bodies, as well as natural persons. 
 
 “Act” means the Constitution and statutes of the State including K.S.A. 10-101 to 10-125, 
inclusive, K.S.A. 10-620 et seq., and K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq., all as amended and supplemented from time 
to time. 
 

147



 

2 

 “Bond and Interest Fund” means the Bond and Interest Fund of the City for its general 
obligation bonds. 
 
 “Bond Resolution” means the resolution to be adopted by the governing body of the City 
prescribing the terms and details of the Bonds and making covenants with respect thereto. 
 
 “Bonds” means the City’s General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A, dated July 1, 2015, 
authorized by this Ordinance. 
 
 “City” means the City of Hays, Kansas. 
 
 “Clerk” means the duly appointed and acting Clerk of the City or, in the Clerk’s absence, the 
duly appointed Deputy Clerk or Acting Clerk. 
 
 “Improvements” means the improvements referred to in the preamble to this Ordinance. 
 
 “Mayor” means the duly elected and acting Mayor of the City or, in the Mayor’s absence, the 
duly appointed and/or elected Vice Mayor or Acting Mayor of the City. 
 
 “Ordinance” means this Ordinance authorizing the issuance of the Bonds. 
 
 “State” means the State of Kansas. 
 
 Section 2.   Authorization of the Bonds.  There shall be issued and hereby are authorized and 
directed to be issued the General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A, of the City in the principal amount of 
$[PRINCIPAL AMOUNT], for the purpose of providing funds to:  (a) pay a portion of the costs of the 
Improvements; and (b) pay costs of issuance of the Bonds. 
 
 Section 3.   Security for the Bonds.  The Bonds shall be general obligations of the City payable 
as to both principal and interest in part from special assessments levied upon the property benefited by the 
construction of the Improvements and, if not so paid, from ad valorem taxes which may be levied without 
limitation as to rate or amount upon all the taxable tangible property, real and personal, within the 
territorial limits of the City.  The balance of the principal and interest on the Bonds is payable from ad 
valorem taxes which may be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the taxable tangible 
property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the City.  The full faith, credit and resources of 
the City are hereby irrevocably pledged for the prompt payment of the principal of and interest on the 
Bonds as the same become due.   
 
 Section 4.   Terms, Details and Conditions of the Bonds.  The Bonds shall be dated and bear 
interest, shall mature and be payable at such times, shall be in such forms, shall be subject to redemption 
and payment prior to the maturity thereof, and shall be issued and delivered in the manner prescribed and 
subject to the provisions, covenants and agreements set forth in the Bond Resolution hereafter adopted by 
the governing body of the City. 
 
 Section 5.   Levy and Collection of Annual Tax.  The governing body of the City shall annually 
make provision for the payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Bonds as the same 
become due by levying and collecting the necessary taxes and/or assessments upon all of the taxable 
tangible property within the City in the manner provided by law. 
 
 The taxes and/or assessments above referred to shall be extended upon the tax rolls in each of the 
several years, respectively, and shall be levied and collected at the same time and in the same manner as 

148



 

3 

the general ad valorem taxes of the City are levied and collected, shall be used solely for the payment of 
the principal of and interest on the Bonds as and when the same become due and the fees and expenses of 
the Paying Agent.  The proceeds derived from said taxes and/or assessments shall be deposited in the 
Bond and Interest Fund. 
 
 If at any time said taxes and/or assessments are not collected in time to pay the principal of or 
interest on the Bonds when due, the Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to pay said principal or 
interest out of the general funds of the City and to reimburse said general funds for money so expended 
when said taxes and/or assessments are collected. 
 
 Section 6.   Further Authority.  The Mayor, Clerk and other City officials are hereby further 
authorized and directed to execute any and all documents and take such actions as they may deem 
necessary or advisable in order to carry out and perform the purposes of the Ordinance, and to make 
alterations, changes or additions in the foregoing agreements, statements, instruments and other 
documents herein approved, authorized and confirmed which they may approve, and the execution or 
taking of such action shall be conclusive evidence of such necessity or advisability. 
 
 Section 7.   Governing Law.  This Ordinance and the Bonds shall be governed exclusively by 
and construed in accordance with the applicable laws of the State. 
 
 Section 8.   Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force from and after 
its passage by the governing body of the City, approval by the Mayor and publication in the official City 
newspaper. 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

149



 

 (Signature Page to Bond Ordinance) 

 PASSED by the governing body of the City on June 11, 2015 and APPROVED AND SIGNED 
by the Mayor. 
 
 
 
(SEAL)              
        Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
 Clerk 
 
 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 
 

150



 

 

(PUBLISHED IN THE HAYS DAILY NEWS ON _______________, 2015) 
 

SUMMARY OF ORDINANCE NO. [__] 
 
 On June 11, 2015, the governing body of the City of Hays, Kansas passed an ordinance entitled: 
 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING AND PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2015-A, OF THE CITY OF HAYS, 
KANSAS; PROVIDING FOR THE LEVY AND COLLECTION OF AN ANNUAL 
TAX FOR THE PURPOSE OF PAYING THE PRINCIPAL OF AND INTEREST 
ON SAID BONDS AS THEY BECOME DUE; AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER 
DOCUMENTS AND ACTIONS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND MAKING 
CERTAIN COVENANTS WITH RESPECT THERETO. 

 
 The Series 2015-A Bonds approved by the Ordinance are being issued in the principal amount of 
$[PRINCIPAL AMOUNT], to finance certain internal improvements in the City, and constitute general 
obligations of the City payable as to both principal and interest, to the extent necessary, from ad valorem 
taxes which may be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the taxable tangible property, 
real and personal, within the territorial limits of the City.  A complete text of the Ordinance may be 
obtained or viewed free of charge at the office of the Clerk, Hays City Hall, 1507 Main Street, Hays, 
Kansas 67601.  A reproduction of the Ordinance is available for not less than 7 days following the 
publication date of this Summary at www.haysusa.com.   
 
 This Summary is hereby certified to be legally accurate and sufficient pursuant to the laws of the 
State of Kansas. 
 
 DATED:  _______________, 2015. 
 
              
         City Attorney 
 

151



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 
 
 

OF 
 
 

THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS 
 
 

ADOPTED 
 
 

JUNE 11, 2015 
 
 
 
 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
SERIES 2015-A 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

152



 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS 

Section 101.  Definitions of Words and Terms. .................................................................................. 1 

ARTICLE II AUTHORIZATION AND DETAILS OF THE BONDS 

Section 201.  Authorization of the Bonds. .......................................................................................... 8 
Section 202.  Description of the Bonds. .............................................................................................. 8 
Section 203.  Designation of Paying Agent and Bond Registrar. ....................................................... 9 
Section 204.  Method and Place of Payment of the Bonds. ................................................................ 9 
Section 205.  Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays. ................................................. 10 
Section 206.  Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds. .......................................................... 10 
Section 207.  Execution, Registration, Authentication and Delivery of Bonds. ............................... 11 
Section 208.  Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds. .............................................................. 11 
Section 209.  Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds Upon Payment. ............................................. 12 
Section 210.  Book-Entry Bonds; Securities Depository. ................................................................. 12 
Section 211.  Nonpresentment of Bonds. .......................................................................................... 13 
Section 212.  Preliminary and Final Official Statement. .................................................................. 13 
Section 213.  Sale of the Bonds. ....................................................................................................... 14 

ARTICLE III REDEMPTION OF BONDS 

Section 301.  Redemption by Issuer. ................................................................................................. 14 
Section 302.  Selection of Bonds to be Redeemed............................................................................ 15 
Section 303.  Notice and Effect of Call for Redemption. ................................................................. 16 

ARTICLE IV SECURITY FOR BONDS 

Section 401.  Security for the Bonds. ................................................................................................ 17 
Section 402.  Levy and Collection of Annual Tax; Transfer to Debt Service Account. ................... 18 

ARTICLE V ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS 

DEPOSIT AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS 

Section 501.  Creation of Funds and Accounts. ................................................................................ 18 
Section 502.  Deposit of Bond Proceeds. .......................................................................................... 18 
Section 503.  Application of Moneys in the Improvement Fund. ..................................................... 19 
Section 504.  Application of Moneys in Debt Service Account. ...................................................... 19 
Section 505.  Deposits and Investment of Moneys. .......................................................................... 20 

ARTICLE VI DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

Section 601.  Remedies. .................................................................................................................... 20 
Section 602.  Limitation on Rights of Owners. ................................................................................. 20 
Section 603.  Remedies Cumulative. ................................................................................................ 21 

ARTICLE VII DEFEASANCE 

153



 

ii 

Section 701.  Defeasance. ................................................................................................................. 21 

ARTICLE VIII TAX COVENANTS 

Section 801.  General Covenants. ..................................................................................................... 22 
Section 802.  Survival of Covenants. ................................................................................................ 22 

ARTICLE IX CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 

Section 901.  Disclosure Requirements. ........................................................................................... 22 
Section 902.  Failure to Comply with Continuing Disclosure Requirements. .................................. 22 

ARTICLE X MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Section 1001.  Annual Audit. .............................................................................................................. 22 
Section 1002.  Amendments. .............................................................................................................. 23 
Section 1003.  Notices, Consents and Other Instruments by Owners. ................................................ 24 
Section 1004.  Notices. ....................................................................................................................... 24 
Section 1005.  Electronic Transactions. .............................................................................................. 24 
Section 1006.  Further Authority. ....................................................................................................... 25 
Section 1007.  Severability. ................................................................................................................ 25 
Section 1008.  Governing Law. .......................................................................................................... 25 
Section 1009.  Effective Date. ............................................................................................................ 25 

 
EXHIBIT A – FORM OF BONDS ............................................................................................................ A-1 
 

 [BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

154



 

1 

RESOLUTION NO. ____ 
 

A RESOLUTION PRESCRIBING THE FORM AND DETAILS OF AND 
AUTHORIZING AND DIRECTING THE SALE AND DELIVERY OF GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2015-A, OF THE CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS, 
PREVIOUSLY AUTHORIZED BY ORDINANCE NO. ______ OF THE ISSUER; 
MAKING CERTAIN COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS TO PROVIDE FOR 
THE PAYMENT AND SECURITY THEREOF; AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN 
OTHER DOCUMENTS AND ACTIONS CONNECTED THEREWITH. 
 

 
 WHEREAS, the City of Hays, Kansas (the “Issuer”) has previously passed the Ordinance 
authorizing the issuance of the Bonds; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Ordinance authorized the governing body of the Issuer to adopt a resolution 
prescribing certain details and conditions and to make certain covenants with respect to the issuance of 
the Bonds. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY 
OF HAYS, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 

ARTICLE I 
 

DEFINITIONS 
 

Section 101. Definitions of Words and Terms.  In addition to words and terms defined 
elsewhere herein, the following words and terms as used in this Bond Resolution shall have the meanings 
hereinafter set forth.  Unless the context shall otherwise indicate, words importing the singular number 
shall include the plural and vice versa, and words importing persons shall include firms, associations and 
corporations, including public bodies, as well as natural persons. 
 
 “Act” means the Constitution and statutes of the State including K.S.A. 10-101 to 10-125, 
inclusive, K.S.A. 10-620 et seq., and K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq., all as amended and supplemented from time 
to time. 
 
 “Authorized Denomination” means $5,000 or any integral multiples thereof. 
 
 “Beneficial Owner” of the Bonds includes any Owner of the Bonds and any other Person who, 
directly or indirectly has the investment power with respect to such Bonds. 
 
 “Bond and Interest Fund” means the Bond and Interest Fund of the Issuer for its general 
obligation bonds. 
 
 “Bond Counsel” means the firm of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., or any other attorney or firm of 
attorneys whose expertise in matters relating to the issuance of obligations by states and their political 
subdivisions is nationally recognized and acceptable to the Issuer. 
 
 “Bond Payment Date” means any date on which principal of or interest on any Bond is payable. 
 

155



 

2 

 “Bond Register” means the books for the registration, transfer and exchange of Bonds kept at the 
office of the Bond Registrar. 
 
 “Bond Registrar” means the State Treasurer, and any successors and assigns. 
 
 “Bond Resolution” means this resolution relating to the Bonds. 
 
 “Bonds” means the General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A, authorized and issued by the 
Issuer pursuant to the Ordinance and this Bond Resolution. 
 
 “Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or any day designated as a holiday 
by the Congress of the United States or by the Legislature of the State and on which the Paying Agent is 
scheduled in the normal course of its operations to be open to the public for conduct of its operations. 
 
 “Cede & Co.” means Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC and any successor nominee of DTC. 
 
 “City” means the City of Hays, Kansas. 
 
 “Clerk” means the duly appointed and/or elected Clerk or, in the Clerk’s absence, the duly 
appointed Deputy Clerk or Acting Clerk of the Issuer. 
 
 “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the applicable regulations 
promulgated thereunder by the United States Department of the Treasury. 
 
 “Costs of Issuance” means all costs of issuing the Bonds, including but not limited to all 
publication, printing, signing and mailing expenses in connection therewith, registration fees, financial 
advisory fees, all legal fees and expenses of Bond Counsel and other legal counsel, expenses incurred in 
connection with compliance with the Code, all expenses incurred in connection with receiving ratings on 
the Bonds, and any premiums or expenses incurred in obtaining municipal bond insurance on the Bonds. 
 
 “Dated Date” means July 1, 2015. 
 
 “Debt Service Account” means the Debt Service Account for General Obligation Bonds, Series 
2015-A created within the Bond and Interest Fund pursuant to Section 501 hereof. 
 
 “Debt Service Requirements” means the aggregate principal payments (whether at maturity or 
pursuant to scheduled mandatory sinking fund redemption requirements) and interest payments on the 
Bonds for the period of time for which calculated; provided, however, that for purposes of calculating 
such amount, principal and interest shall be excluded from the determination of Debt Service 
Requirements to the extent that such principal or interest is payable from amounts deposited in trust, 
escrowed or otherwise set aside for the payment thereof with the Paying Agent or other commercial bank 
or trust company located in the State and having full trust powers. 
 
 “Defaulted Interest” means interest on any Bond which is payable but not paid on any Interest 
Payment Date. 
 
 “Defeasance Obligations” means any of the following obligations: 
 
 (a) United States Government Obligations that are not subject to redemption in advance of 
their maturity dates; or 
 

156



 

3 

 (b) obligations of any state or political subdivision of any state, the interest on which is 
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and which meet the following conditions: 
 

 (1) the obligations are (i) not subject to redemption prior to maturity or (ii) the 
trustee for such obligations has been given irrevocable instructions concerning their calling and 
redemption and the issuer of such obligations has covenanted not to redeem such obligations 
other than as set forth in such instructions; 

 
 (2) the obligations are secured by cash or United States Government Obligations that 
may be applied only to principal of, premium, if any, and interest payments on such obligations; 

 
 (3) such cash and the principal of and interest on such United States Government 
Obligations (plus any cash in the escrow fund) are sufficient to meet the liabilities of the 
obligations; 

 
 (4) such cash and United States Government Obligations serving as security for the 
obligations are held in an escrow fund by an escrow agent or a trustee irrevocably in trust; 

 
 (5) such cash and United States Government Obligations are not available to satisfy 
any other claims, including those against the trustee or escrow agent; and 

 
 (6) such obligations are rated in a rating category by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s 
that is no lower than the rating category then assigned by that Rating Agency to United States 
Government Obligations. 

 
 “Derivative” means any investment instrument whose market price is derived from the 
fluctuating value of an underlying asset, index, currency, futures contract, including futures, options and 
collateralized mortgage obligations. 
 
 “Disclosure Undertaking” means the Issuer’s Continuing Disclosure Instructions relating to 
certain obligations contained in the SEC Rule. 
 
 “DTC” means The Depository Trust Company, a limited-purpose trust company organized under 
the laws of the State of New York, and its successors and assigns, including any successor securities 
depository duly appointed. 
 
 “DTC Representation Letter” means the Blanket Letter of Representation from the Issuer and the 
Paying Agent to DTC which provides for a book-entry system, or any agreement between the Issuer and 
Paying Agent and a successor securities depository duly appointed. 
 
 “Event of Default” means each of the following occurrences or events: 
 
 (a) Payment of the principal and of the redemption premium, if any, of any of the Bonds 
shall not be made when the same shall become due and payable, either at Stated Maturity or by 
proceedings for redemption or otherwise; 
 
 (b) Payment of any installment of interest on any of the Bonds shall not be made when the 
same shall become due; or 
 
 (c) The Issuer shall default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the 
covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions contained in the Bonds or in this Bond Resolution 

157



 

4 

(other than the covenants relating to continuing disclosure requirements contained herein and in the 
Disclosure Undertaking) on the part of the Issuer to be performed, and such default shall continue for 
thirty (30) days after written notice specifying such default and requiring same to be remedied shall have 
been given to the Issuer by the Owner of any of the Bonds then Outstanding. 
 
 “Federal Tax Certificate” means the Issuer’s Federal Tax Certificate dated as of the Issue Date, 
as the same may be amended or supplemented in accordance with the provisions thereof. 
 

“Financeable Costs” means the amount of expenditure for an Improvement which has been duly 
authorized by action of the governing body of the Issuer to be financed by general obligation bonds, less:  
(a) the amount of any temporary notes or general obligation bonds of the Issuer which are currently 
Outstanding and available to pay such Financeable Costs; and (b) any amount of Financeable Costs which 
has been previously paid by the Issuer or by any eligible source of funds unless such amounts are entitled 
to be reimbursed to the Issuer under State or federal law. 
 
 “Fiscal Year” means the twelve month period ending on December 31. 
 
 “Funds and Accounts” means funds and accounts created pursuant to or referred to in 
Section 501 hereof. 
 
 “Improvement Fund” means the Improvement Fund for General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-
A created pursuant to Section 501 hereof. 
 
 “Improvements” means the improvements referred to in the preamble to the Ordinance. 
 
 “Independent Accountant” means an independent certified public accountant or firm of 
independent certified public accountants at the time employed by the Issuer for the purpose of carrying 
out the duties imposed on the Independent Accountant by this Bond Resolution. 
 
 “Interest Payment Date(s)” means the Stated Maturity of an installment of interest on any Bond 
which shall be March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing March 1, 2016. 
 
 “Issue Date” means the date when the Issuer delivers the Bonds to the Purchaser in exchange for 
the Purchase Price. 
 
 “Issuer” means the City and any successors or assigns. 
 
 “Maturity” when used with respect to any Bond means the date on which the principal of such 
Bond becomes due and payable as therein and herein provided, whether at the Stated Maturity thereof or 
call for redemption or otherwise. 
 
 “Mayor” means the duly elected and acting Mayor, or in the Mayor’s absence, the duly 
appointed and/or elected Vice Mayor or Acting Mayor of the Issuer. 
 
 “Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, a corporation organized and existing under the 
laws of the State of Delaware, and its successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved 
or liquidated or shall no longer perform the functions of a securities rating agency, “Moody’s” shall be 
deemed to refer to any other nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Issuer. 
 
 “Notice Address” means with respect to the following entities: 
 

158



 

5 

 (a) To the Issuer at: 
 

 City of Hays, Kansas 
 Attn.: Clerk 
 1507 Main Street 
 Hays, Kansas 67601 
 Phone No.:  (785) 628-7300 
 Fax No.:  (785) 628-7323 
 

 (b) To the Paying Agent at: 
 
   State Treasurer of the State of Kansas 
   Landon Office Building 
   900 Southwest Jackson, Suite 201 
   Topeka, Kansas  66612-1235 
   Fax:  (785) 296-6976 
 
 (c) To the Purchaser: 
 
   ___________________ 

___________________ _ 
___________________ 

   Fax: _______________ 
 
 (d) To the Rating Agency: 
 
   Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, 

 a division of McGraw Hill Financial Inc. 
   55 Water Street, 38th Floor 
   New York, New York 10004 
 
or such other address as is furnished in writing to the other parties referenced herein. 
 
 “Notice Representative” means: 
 
 (a) With respect to the Issuer, the Clerk. 
 
 (b) With respect to the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent, the Director of Bond Services. 
 
 (c) With respect to any Purchaser, the manager of its Municipal Bond Department. 
 
 (d) With respect to any Rating Agency, any Vice President thereof. 
 
 “Official Statement” means Issuer’s Official Statement relating to the Bonds. 
 
 “Ordinance” means Ordinance No. ______ of the Issuer authorizing the issuance of the Bonds, 
as amended from time to time. 
 
 “Outstanding” means, when used with reference to the Bonds, as of a particular date of 
determination, all Bonds previously authenticated and delivered, except the following Bonds: 
 

159



 

6 

 (a) Bonds previously canceled by the Paying Agent or delivered to the Paying Agent for 
cancellation; 
 
 (b) Bonds deemed to be paid in accordance with the provisions of Article VII hereof; and 
 
 (c) Bonds in exchange for or in lieu of which other Bonds have been authenticated and 
delivered hereunder. 
 
 “Owner” when used with respect to any Bond means the Person in whose name such Bond is 
registered on the Bond Register.  Whenever consent of the Owners is required pursuant to the terms of 
this Bond Resolution, and the Owner of the Bonds, as set forth on the Bond Register, is Cede & Co., the 
term Owner shall be deemed to be the Beneficial Owner of the Bonds. 
 
 “Participants” means those financial institutions for whom the Securities Depository effects 
book-entry transfers and pledges of securities deposited with the Securities Depository, as such listing of 
Participants exists at the time of such reference. 
 
 “Paying Agent” means the State Treasurer, and any successors and assigns. 
 
 “Permitted Investments” shall mean the investments hereinafter described, provided, however, 
no moneys or funds shall be invested in a Derivative:  (a) investments authorized by K.S.A. 12-1675 and 
amendments thereto; (b) the municipal investment pool established pursuant to K.S.A. 12-1677a, and 
amendments thereto; (c) direct obligations of the United States Government or any agency thereof; (d) the 
Issuer’s temporary notes issued pursuant to K.S.A. 10-123 and amendments thereto; (e) interest-bearing 
time deposits in commercial banks or trust companies located in the county or counties in which the 
Issuer is located; (f) obligations of the federal national mortgage association, federal home loan banks, 
federal home loan mortgage corporation or government national mortgage association; (g) repurchase 
agreements for securities described in (c) or (f); (h) investment agreements or other obligations of a 
financial institution the obligations of which at the time of investment are rated in either of the three 
highest rating categories by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s; (i) investments and shares or units of a 
money market fund or trust, the portfolio of which is comprised entirely of securities described in (c) or 
(f); (j) receipts evidencing ownership interests in securities or portions thereof described in (c) or (f); (k) 
municipal bonds or other obligations issued by any municipality of the State as defined in K.S.A. 10-1101 
which are general obligations of the municipality issuing the same; or (l) bonds of any municipality of the 
State as defined in K.S.A. 10-1101 which have been refunded in advance of their maturity and are fully 
secured as to payment of principal and interest thereon by deposit in trust, under escrow agreement with a 
bank, of securities described in (c) or (f), all as may be further restricted or modified by amendments to 
applicable State law. 
 
 “Person” means any natural person, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, firm, 
joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, or government or any agency or political 
subdivision thereof or other public body. 
 
 “Purchase Price” means the principal amount of the Bonds plus accrued interest to the date of 
delivery[, plus a premium of $___________][, less an underwriting discount of $___________][, less an 
original issue discount of $___________]. 
 
 “Purchaser” means __________________, _________________, the original purchaser of the 
Bonds, and any successor and assigns. 
 

160



 

7 

 “Rating Agency” means any company, agency or entity that provides, pursuant to request of the 
Issuer, financial ratings for the Bonds. 
 

“Rebate Fund” means the Rebate Fund for General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A created 
pursuant to Section 501 hereof. 
 
 “Record Dates” for the interest payable on any Interest Payment Date means the fifteenth day 
(whether or not a Business Day) of the calendar month next preceding such Interest Payment Date. 
 
 “Redemption Date” means, when used with respect to any Bond to be redeemed, the date fixed 
for the redemption of such Bond pursuant to the terms of this Bond Resolution. 
  

“Redemption Price” means, when used with respect to any Bond to be redeemed, the price at 
which such Bond is to be redeemed pursuant to the terms of this Bond Resolution, including the 
applicable redemption premium, if any, but excluding installments of interest whose Stated Maturity is on 
or before the Redemption Date. 
 
 “Replacement Bonds” means Bonds issued to the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds in accordance 
with Section 210 hereof. 
 
 “SEC Rule” means Rule 15c2-12 adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
 
 “Securities Depository” means, initially, DTC, and its successors and assigns. 
 
 “Special Record Date” means the date fixed by the Paying Agent pursuant to Article II hereof 
for the payment of Defaulted Interest. 
 
 “Standard & Poor’s” means Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services, a division of McGraw Hill 
Financial Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, and its 
successors and assigns, and, if such corporation shall be dissolved or liquidated or shall no longer perform 
the functions of a securities rating agency, Standard & Poor’s shall be deemed to refer to any other 
nationally recognized securities rating agency designated by the Issuer. 
 
 “State” means the state of Kansas. 
 
 “State Treasurer” means the duly elected Treasurer or, in the Treasurer’s absence, the duly 
appointed Deputy Treasurer or acting Treasurer of the State. 
 
 “Stated Maturity” when used with respect to any Bond or any installment of interest thereon 
means the date specified in such Bond and this Bond Resolution as the fixed date on which the principal 
of such Bond or such installment of interest is due and payable. 
 
[ “Term Bonds” means the Bonds scheduled to mature in the year 2034.] 
 
[ “____ Term Bonds” means the Bonds scheduled to mature in the year ____.] 
 
[ “2034 Term Bonds” means the Bonds scheduled to mature in the year 2034.] 
 
[ “Term Bonds” means collectively, the ____ Term Bonds and the 2034 Term Bonds.] 
 

161



 

8 

 “Treasurer” means the duly appointed and/or elected Treasurer of the Issuer or, in the 
Treasurer’s absence, the duly appointed Deputy Treasurer or acting Treasurer of the Issuer. 
 
 “United States Government Obligations” means bonds, notes, certificates of indebtedness, 
treasury bills or other securities constituting direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and 
interest on which are fully and unconditionally guaranteed as to full and timely payment by, the United 
States of America, including evidences of a direct ownership interest in future interest or principal 
payment on obligations issued by the United States of America (including the interest component of 
obligations of the Resolution Funding Corporation), or securities which represent an undivided interest in 
such obligations, which obligations are rated in the highest rating category by a nationally recognized 
rating service and such obligations are held in a custodial account for the benefit of the Issuer. 
 

ARTICLE II 
 

AUTHORIZATION AND DETAILS OF THE BONDS 
 

Section 201.  Authorization of the Bonds.  The Bonds have been previously authorized and 
directed to be issued pursuant to the Ordinance in the principal amount of $[PRINCIPAL AMOUNT], for 
the purpose of providing funds to: (a) pay a portion of the costs of the Improvements; and (b) pay Costs 
of Issuance. 
 

Section 202. Description of the Bonds.  The Bonds shall consist of fully registered bonds in 
an Authorized Denomination, and shall be numbered in such manner as the Bond Registrar shall 
determine.  All of the Bonds shall be dated as of the Dated Date, shall become due in the amounts, on the 
Stated Maturities, subject to redemption and payment prior to their Stated Maturities as provided in 
Article III hereof, and shall bear interest at the rates per annum as follows: 
 

SERIAL BONDS 
 
Stated Maturity 

September 1 
Principal 
Amount 

Annual Rate
of Interest  

Stated Maturity
September 1 

Principal 
Amount 

Annual Rate
of Interest 

2016 $_______ _______%  2024 $_______ _______% 
2017 _______ _______%  2025 _______ _______% 
2018 _______ _______%  2026 _______ _______% 
2019 _______ _______%  2027 _______ _______% 
2020 _______ _______%  2028 _______ _______% 
2021 _______ _______%  2029 _______ _______% 
2022 _______ _______%  2030 _______ _______% 
2023 _______ _______%     

 
[TERM BONDS 

 
Stated Maturity 

September 1 
Principal 
Amount 

Annual Rate
of Interest 

20__ $_______ _____%] 
 
 The Bonds shall bear interest at the above specified rates (computed on the basis of a 360-day 
year of twelve 30-day months) from the later of the Dated Date or the most recent Interest Payment Date 
to which interest has been paid on the Interest Payment Dates in the manner set forth in Section 204 
hereof. 

162



 

9 

 
 Each of the Bonds, as originally issued or issued upon transfer, exchange or substitution, shall be 
printed in accordance with the format required by the Attorney General of the State and shall be 
substantially in the form attached hereto as EXHIBIT A or as may be required by the Attorney General 
pursuant to the Notice of Systems of Registration for Kansas Municipal Bonds, 2 Kan. Reg. 921 (1983), 
in accordance with the Kansas Bond Registration Law, K.S.A. 10-620 et seq. 
 

Section 203. Designation of Paying Agent and Bond Registrar.  The State Treasurer, is 
hereby designated as the Paying Agent for the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds and Bond 
Registrar with respect to the registration, transfer and exchange of Bonds.  The Mayor of the Issuer is 
hereby authorized and empowered to execute on behalf of the Issuer an agreement with the Bond 
Registrar and Paying Agent for the Bonds. 
 
 The Issuer will at all times maintain a Paying Agent and Bond Registrar meeting the 
qualifications herein described for the performance of the duties hereunder.  The Issuer reserves the right 
to appoint a successor Paying Agent or Bond Registrar by (a) filing with the Paying Agent or Bond 
Registrar then performing such function a certified copy of the proceedings giving notice of the 
termination of such Paying Agent or Bond Registrar and appointing a successor, and (b) causing notice of 
appointment of the successor Paying Agent and Bond Registrar to be given by first class mail to each 
Owner.  No resignation or removal of the Paying Agent or Bond Registrar shall become effective until a 
successor has been appointed and has accepted the duties of Paying Agent or Bond Registrar.   
 
 Every Paying Agent or Bond Registrar appointed hereunder shall at all times meet the 
requirements of K.S.A. 10-501 et seq. and K.S.A. 10-620 et seq., respectively. 
 

Section 204. Method and Place of Payment of the Bonds.  The principal of, or Redemption 
Price, and interest on the Bonds shall be payable in any coin or currency which, on the respective dates of 
payment thereof, is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts. 
 
 The principal or Redemption Price of each Bond shall be paid at Maturity to the Person in whose 
name such Bond is registered on the Bond Register at the Maturity thereof, upon presentation and 
surrender of such Bond at the principal office of the Paying Agent. 
 
 The interest payable on each Bond on any Interest Payment Date shall be paid to the Owner of 
such Bond as shown on the Bond Register at the close of business on the Record Date for such interest (a) 
by check or draft mailed by the Paying Agent to the address of such Owner shown on the Bond Register 
or at such other address as is furnished to the Paying Agent in writing by such Owner; or (b) in the case of 
an interest payment to Cede & Co. or any Owner of $500,000 or more in aggregate principal amount of 
Bonds, by electronic transfer to such Owner upon written notice given to the Bond Registrar by such 
Owner, not less than 15 days prior to the Record Date for such interest, containing the electronic transfer 
instructions including the bank ABA routing number and account number to which such Owner wishes to 
have such transfer directed. 
 
 Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section, any Defaulted Interest with respect to 
any Bond shall cease to be payable to the Owner of such Bond on the relevant Record Date and shall be 
payable to the Owner in whose name such Bond is registered at the close of business on the Special 
Record Date for the payment of such Defaulted Interest, which Special Record Date shall be fixed as 
hereinafter specified in this paragraph.  The Issuer shall notify the Paying Agent in writing of the amount 
of Defaulted Interest proposed to be paid on each Bond and the date of the proposed payment (which date 
shall be at least 30 days after receipt of such notice by the Paying Agent) and shall deposit with the 
Paying Agent at the time of such notice an amount of money equal to the aggregate amount proposed to 

163



 

10 

be paid in respect of such Defaulted Interest or shall make arrangements satisfactory to the Paying Agent 
for such deposit prior to the date of the proposed payment.  Following receipt of such funds the Paying 
Agent shall fix a Special Record Date for the payment of such Defaulted Interest which shall be not more 
than 15 nor less than 10 days prior to the date of the proposed payment.  The Paying Agent shall promptly 
notify the Issuer of such Special Record Date and, in the name and at the expense of the Issuer, shall 
cause notice of the proposed payment of such Defaulted Interest and the Special Record Date therefore to 
be mailed, by first class mail, postage prepaid, to each Owner of a Bond entitled to such notice at the 
address of such Owner as it appears on the Bond Register not less than 10 days prior to such Special 
Record Date. 
 
 The Paying Agent shall keep a record of payment of principal and Redemption Price of and 
interest on all Bonds and at least annually shall forward a copy or summary of such records to the Issuer. 
 

Section 205. Payments Due on Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays.  In any case where a 
Bond Payment Date is not a Business Day, then payment of principal, Redemption Price or interest need 
not be made on such Bond Payment Date but may be made on the next succeeding Business Day with the 
same force and effect as if made on such Bond Payment Date, and no interest shall accrue for the period 
after such Bond Payment Date. 
 

Section 206. Registration, Transfer and Exchange of Bonds.  The Issuer covenants that, as 
long as any of the Bonds remain Outstanding, it will cause the Bond Register to be kept at the office of 
the Bond Registrar as herein provided.  Each Bond when issued shall be registered in the name of the 
Owner thereof on the Bond Register. 
 
 Bonds may be transferred and exchanged only on the Bond Register as provided in this Section.  
Upon surrender of any Bond at the principal office of the Bond Registrar, the Bond Registrar shall 
transfer or exchange such Bond for a new Bond or Bonds in any Authorized Denomination of the same 
Stated Maturity and in the same aggregate principal amount as the Bond that was presented for transfer or 
exchange.  
 
 Bonds presented for transfer or exchange shall be accompanied by a written instrument or 
instruments of transfer or authorization for exchange, in a form and with guarantee of signature 
satisfactory to the Bond Registrar, duly executed by the Owner thereof or by the Owner’s duly authorized 
agent. 
 
 In all cases in which the privilege of transferring or exchanging Bonds is exercised, the Bond 
Registrar shall authenticate and deliver Bonds in accordance with the provisions of this Bond Resolution.  
The Issuer shall pay the fees and expenses of the Bond Registrar for the registration, transfer and 
exchange of Bonds provided for by this Bond Resolution and the cost of printing a reasonable supply of 
registered bond blanks.  Any additional costs or fees that might be incurred in the secondary market, other 
than fees of the Bond Registrar, are the responsibility of the Owners of the Bonds.  In the event any 
Owner fails to provide a correct taxpayer identification number to the Paying Agent, the Paying Agent 
may make a charge against such Owner sufficient to pay any governmental charge required to be paid as a 
result of such failure.  In compliance with Code § 3406, such amount may be deducted by the Paying 
Agent from amounts otherwise payable to such Owner hereunder or under the Bonds. 
 
 The Issuer and the Bond Registrar shall not be required (a) to register the transfer or exchange of 
any Bond that has been called for redemption after notice of such redemption has been mailed by the 
Paying Agent pursuant to Article III hereof and during the period of 15 days next preceding the date of 
mailing of such notice of redemption; or (b) to register the transfer or exchange of any Bond during a 
period beginning at the opening of business on the day after receiving written notice from the Issuer of its 

164



 

11 

intent to pay Defaulted Interest and ending at the close of business on the date fixed for the payment of 
Defaulted Interest pursuant to this Article II. 
 
 The Issuer and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the Person in whose name any Bond is 
registered on the Bond Register as the absolute Owner of such Bond, whether such Bond is overdue or 
not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal or Redemption Price of and 
interest on said Bond and for all other purposes.  All payments so made to any such Owner or upon the 
Owner’s order shall be valid and effective to satisfy and discharge the liability upon such Bond to the 
extent of the sum or sums so paid, and neither the Issuer nor the Paying Agent shall be affected by any 
notice to the contrary. 
 
 At reasonable times and under reasonable regulations established by the Bond Registrar, the Bond 
Register may be inspected and copied by the Owners (or a designated representative thereof) of 10% or 
more in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or any designated representative of such Owners 
whose authority is evidenced to the satisfaction of the Bond Registrar. 
 

Section 207. Execution, Registration, Authentication and Delivery of Bonds.  Each of the 
Bonds, including any Bonds issued in exchange or as substitutions for the Bonds initially delivered, shall 
be executed for and on behalf of the Issuer by the manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor, attested by 
the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk, and the seal of the Issuer shall be affixed thereto or 
imprinted thereon.  The Mayor and Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to prepare and execute the 
Bonds in the manner herein specified, and to cause the Bonds to be registered in the office of the Clerk, 
which registration shall be evidenced by the manual or facsimile signature of the Clerk with the seal of 
the Issuer affixed thereto or imprinted thereon.  The Bonds shall also be registered in the office of the 
State Treasurer, which registration shall be evidenced by the manual or facsimile signature of the State 
Treasurer with the seal of the State Treasurer affixed thereto or imprinted thereon. In case any officer 
whose signature appears on any Bonds ceases to be such officer before the delivery of such Bonds, such 
signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes, as if such person had remained in 
office until delivery.  Any Bond may be signed by such persons who at the actual time of the execution of 
such Bond are the proper officers to sign such Bond although at the date of such Bond such persons may 
not have been such officers. 
 
 The Mayor and Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to prepare and execute the Bonds as 
herein specified, and when duly executed, to deliver the Bonds to the Bond Registrar for authentication. 
 
 The Bonds shall have endorsed thereon a certificate of authentication substantially in the form 
attached hereto as EXHIBIT A hereof, which shall be manually executed by an authorized officer or 
employee of the Bond Registrar, but it shall not be necessary that the same officer or employee sign the 
certificate of authentication on all of the Bonds that may be issued hereunder at any one time.  No Bond 
shall be entitled to any security or benefit under this Bond Resolution or be valid or obligatory for any 
purpose unless and until such certificate of authentication has been duly executed by the Bond Registrar.  
Such executed certificate of authentication upon any Bond shall be conclusive evidence that such Bond 
has been duly authenticated and delivered under this Bond Resolution.  Upon authentication, the Bond 
Registrar shall deliver the Bonds to the Purchaser upon instructions of the Issuer or its representative. 
 

Section 208. Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Bonds.  If (a) any mutilated Bond is 
surrendered to the Bond Registrar or the Bond Registrar receives evidence to its satisfaction of the 
destruction, loss or theft of any Bond, and (b) there is delivered to the Issuer and the Bond Registrar such 
security or indemnity as may be required by each of them, then, in the absence of notice to the Issuer or 
the Bond Registrar that such Bond has been acquired by a bona fide purchaser, the Issuer shall execute 
and, upon the Issuer’s request, the Bond Registrar shall authenticate and deliver, in exchange for or in lieu 

165



 

12 

of any such mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond, a new Bond of the same Stated Maturity and of like 
tenor and principal amount. 
 
 If any such mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Bond has become or is about to become due and 
payable, the Issuer, in its discretion, may pay such Bond instead of issuing a new Bond. 
 
 Upon the issuance of any new Bond under this Section, the Issuer and the Paying Agent may 
require the payment by the Owner of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that 
may be imposed in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Paying 
Agent) connected therewith. 
 
 Every new Bond issued pursuant to this Section shall constitute a replacement of the prior 
obligation of the Issuer, and shall be entitled to all the benefits of this Bond Resolution equally and 
ratably with all other Outstanding Bonds. 
 

Section 209. Cancellation and Destruction of Bonds Upon Payment.  All Bonds that have 
been paid or redeemed or that otherwise have been surrendered to the Paying Agent, either at or before 
Maturity, shall be cancelled by the Paying Agent immediately upon the payment, redemption and 
surrender thereof to the Paying Agent and subsequently destroyed in accordance with the customary 
practices of the Paying Agent.  The Paying Agent shall execute a certificate in duplicate describing the 
Bonds so cancelled and destroyed and shall file an executed counterpart of such certificate with the Issuer. 
 

Section 210. Book-Entry Bonds; Securities Depository.  The Issuer and Paying Agent have 
entered into a DTC Representation Letter with DTC.  The Bonds shall initially be registered to Cede & 
Co., the nominee for the Securities Depository, and no Beneficial Owner will receive certificates 
representing their respective interests in the Bonds, except in the event the Bond Registrar issues 
Replacement Bonds as provided in this Section.  It is anticipated that during the term of the Bonds, the 
Securities Depository will make book-entry transfers among its Participants and receive and transmit 
payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, the Bonds to the Participants until and unless 
the Bond Registrar authenticates and delivers Replacement Bonds to the Beneficial Owners as described 
in the following paragraph. 
 
 The Issuer may decide, subject to the requirements of the Operational Arrangements of DTC (or a 
successor Securities Depository), and the following provisions of this section to discontinue use of the 
system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor Securities Depository): 
 
 (a) If the Issuer determines (1) that the Securities Depository is unable to properly discharge 
its responsibilities, or (2) that the Securities Depository is no longer qualified to act as a securities 
depository and registered clearing agency under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or 
(3) that the continuation of a book-entry system to the exclusion of any Bonds being issued to any Owner 
other than Cede & Co. is no longer in the best interests of the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; or  
 
 (b) if the Bond Registrar receives written notice from Participants having interests in not less 
than 50% of the Bonds Outstanding, as shown on the records of the Securities Depository (and certified to 
such effect by the Securities Depository), that the continuation of a book-entry system to the exclusion of 
any Bonds being issued to any Owner other than Cede & Co. is no longer in the best interests of the 
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds, then the Bond Registrar shall notify the Owners of such determination or 
such notice and of the availability of certificates to Owners requesting the same, and the Bond Registrar 
shall register in the name of and authenticate and deliver Replacement Bonds to the Beneficial Owners or 
their nominees in principal amounts representing the interest of each, making such adjustments as it may 
find necessary or appropriate as to accrued interest and previous calls for redemption; provided, that in 

166



 

13 

the case of a determination under (a)(1) or (a)(2) of this paragraph, the Issuer, with the consent of the 
Bond Registrar, may select a successor securities depository in accordance with the following paragraph 
to effect book-entry transfers. 
 
 In such event, all references to the Securities Depository herein shall relate to the period of time 
when the Securities Depository has possession of at least one Bond.  Upon the issuance of Replacement 
Bonds, all references herein to obligations imposed upon or to be performed by the Securities Depository 
shall be deemed to be imposed upon and performed by the Bond Registrar, to the extent applicable with 
respect to such Replacement Bonds.  If the Securities Depository resigns and the Issuer, the Bond 
Registrar or Owners are unable to locate a qualified successor of the Securities Depository in accordance 
with the following paragraph, then the Bond Registrar shall authenticate and cause delivery of 
Replacement Bonds to Owners, as provided herein.  The Bond Registrar may rely on information from 
the Securities Depository and its Participants as to the names of the Beneficial Owners of the Bonds.  The 
cost of printing, registration, authentication, and delivery of Replacement Bonds shall be paid for by 
the Issuer. 
 
 In the event the Securities Depository resigns, is unable to properly discharge its responsibilities, 
or is no longer qualified to act as a securities depository and registered clearing agency under the 
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Issuer may appoint a successor Securities 
Depository provided the Bond Registrar receives written evidence satisfactory to the Bond Registrar with 
respect to the ability of the successor Securities Depository to discharge its responsibilities.  Any such 
successor Securities Depository shall be a securities depository which is a registered clearing agency 
under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or other applicable statute or regulation that 
operates a securities depository upon reasonable and customary terms.  The Bond Registrar upon its 
receipt of a Bond or Bonds for cancellation shall cause the delivery of Bonds to the successor Securities 
Depository in an Authorized Denominations and form as provided herein. 
 

Section 211. Nonpresentment of Bonds.  If any Bond is not presented for payment when the 
principal thereof becomes due at Maturity, if funds sufficient to pay such Bond have been made available 
to the Paying Agent all liability of the Issuer to the Owner thereof for the payment of such Bond shall 
forthwith cease, determine and be completely discharged, and thereupon it shall be the duty of the Paying 
Agent to hold such funds, without liability for interest thereon, for the benefit of the Owner of such Bond, 
who shall thereafter be restricted exclusively to such funds for any claim of whatever nature on his part 
under this Bond Resolution or on, or with respect to, said Bond.  If any Bond is not presented for payment 
within four (4) years following the date when such Bond becomes due at Maturity, the Paying Agent shall 
repay, without liability for interest thereon, to the Issuer the funds previously held by it for payment of 
such Bond, and such Bond shall, subject to the defense of any applicable statute of limitation, thereafter 
be an unsecured obligation of the Issuer, and the Owner thereof shall be entitled to look only to the Issuer 
for payment, and then only to the extent of the amount so repaid to it by the Paying Agent, and the Issuer 
shall not be liable for any interest thereon and shall not be regarded as a trustee of such money. 
 

Section 212. Preliminary and Final Official Statement.  For the purpose of enabling the 
Purchaser to comply with the requirements of Section (b)(1) of the SEC Rule, the Issuer hereby deems the 
information regarding the Issuer contained in the Preliminary Official Statement to be “final” as of its 
date, except for the omission of such information as is permitted by Section (b)(1) of the SEC Rule, and 
the appropriate officers of the Issuer are hereby authorized, if requested, to provide the Purchaser a letter 
or certification to such effect and to take such other actions or execute such other documents as such 
officers in their reasonable judgment deem necessary to enable the Purchaser to comply with the 
requirement of the SEC Rule. 
 

167



 

14 

 The Official Statement is hereby authorized to be prepared by supplementing, amending and 
completing the Preliminary Official Statement, with such changes and additions thereto as are necessary 
to conform to and describe the transaction.  The Mayor and chief financial officer of the Issuer are hereby 
authorized to execute the Official Statement as so supplemented, amended and completed, and the use 
and public distribution of the Official Statement by the Purchaser in connection with the reoffering of the 
Bonds is hereby authorized.  The proper officials of the Issuer are hereby authorized to execute and 
deliver a certificate pertaining to such Official Statement as prescribed therein, dated as of the Issue Date. 
 
 The Issuer agrees to provide to the Purchaser within seven business days of the date of the sale of 
Bonds sufficient copies of the Official Statement to enable the Purchaser to comply with the requirements 
of the SEC Rule and Rule G-32 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 
 

Section 213. Sale of the Bonds.  The sale of the Bonds to the Purchaser is hereby approved.  
The Mayor and Clerk are hereby authorized to execute the official bid form submitted by the Purchaser.  
Delivery of the Bonds shall be made to the Purchaser on the Issue Date (which shall be as soon as 
practicable after the adoption of this Bond Resolution), upon payment of the Purchase Price. 
 
 

ARTICLE III 
 

REDEMPTION OF BONDS 
 

Section 301. Redemption by Issuer.   
 
 Optional Redemption.  At the option of the Issuer, Bonds maturing on September 1 in the years 
2023, and thereafter, will be subject to redemption and payment prior to their Stated Maturity on 
September 1, 2022, and thereafter, as a whole or in part (selection of maturities and the amount of Bonds 
of each maturity to be redeemed to be determined by the Issuer in such equitable manner as it may 
determine) at any time, at the Redemption Price of 100% (expressed as a percentage of the principal 
amount), plus accrued interest to the Redemption Date. 
 
 [Mandatory Redemption.  [(a) ____ Term Bonds.]  The [____] Term Bonds shall be subject to 
mandatory redemption and payment prior to Stated Maturity pursuant to the mandatory redemption 
requirements of this Section at a Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus 
accrued interest to the Redemption Date.  The taxes levied in Article IV hereof which are to be deposited 
into the Debt Service Account shall be sufficient to redeem, and the Issuer shall redeem on September 1 
in each year, the following principal amounts of such [____] Term Bonds:  
 

Principal 
Amount Year 

$   
   
  * 

 _______________ 
    *Final Maturity 
 
 [(b) 2034 Term Bonds.]  The 2034 Term Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption and 
payment prior to Stated Maturity pursuant to the mandatory redemption requirements of this Section at a 
Redemption Price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof plus accrued interest to the Redemption 
Date.  The taxes levied in Article IV hereof which are to be deposited into the Debt Service Account shall 

168



 

15 

be sufficient to redeem, and the Issuer shall redeem on September 1 in each year, the following principal 
amounts of such 2034 Term Bonds: 
 

Principal 
Amount Year 

$   
   
  2034* 

 _______________ 
    *Final Maturity 
 
 At its option, to be exercised on or before the 45th day next preceding any mandatory 
Redemption Date, the Issuer may:  (1) deliver to the Paying Agent for cancellation Term Bonds subject to 
mandatory redemption on said mandatory Redemption Date, in any aggregate principal amount desired; 
or (2) furnish the Paying Agent funds, together with appropriate instructions, for the purpose of 
purchasing any Term Bonds subject to mandatory redemption on said mandatory Redemption Date from 
any Owner thereof whereupon the Paying Agent shall expend such funds for such purpose to such extent 
as may be practical; or (3) receive a credit with respect to the mandatory redemption obligation of the 
Issuer under this Section for any Term Bonds subject to mandatory redemption on said mandatory 
Redemption Date which, prior to such date, have been redeemed (other than through the operation of the 
mandatory redemption requirements of this subsection) and cancelled by the Paying Agent and not 
previously applied as a credit against any redemption obligation under this subsection.  Each Term Bond 
so delivered or previously purchased or redeemed shall be credited at 100% of the principal amount 
thereof on the obligation of the Issuer to redeem Term Bonds of the same Stated Maturity on such 
mandatory Redemption Date, and any excess of such amount shall be credited on future mandatory 
redemption obligations for Term Bonds of the same Stated Maturity as designated by the Issuer, and the 
principal amount of Term Bonds to be redeemed by operation of the requirements of this Section shall be 
accordingly reduced.  If the Issuer intends to exercise any option granted by the provisions of clauses (1), 
(2) or (3) above, the Issuer will, on or before the 45th day next preceding each mandatory Redemption 
Date, furnish the Paying Agent a written certificate indicating to what extent the provisions of said clauses 
(1), (2) and (3) are to be complied with, with respect to such mandatory redemption payment.] 
 

Section 302. Selection of Bonds to be Redeemed.  Bonds shall be redeemed only in an 
Authorized Denomination.  When less than all of the Bonds are to be redeemed and paid prior to their 
Stated Maturity, such Bonds shall be redeemed in such manner as the Issuer shall determine.  Bonds of 
less than a full Stated Maturity shall be selected by the Bond Registrar in a minimum Authorized 
Denomination of principal amount in such equitable manner as the Bond Registrar may determine. 
 
 In the case of a partial redemption of Bonds by lot when Bonds of denominations greater than a 
minimum Authorized Denomination are then Outstanding, then for all purposes in connection with such 
redemption a minimum Authorized Denomination of face value shall be treated as though it were a 
separate Bond of the denomination of a minimum Authorized Denomination.  If it is determined that one 
or more, but not all, of a minimum Authorized Denomination of face value represented by any Bond is 
selected for redemption, then upon notice of intention to redeem a minimum Authorized Denomination, 
the Owner or the Owner’s duly authorized agent shall forthwith present and surrender such Bond to the 
Bond Registrar:  (1) for payment of the Redemption Price and interest to the Redemption Date of a 
minimum Authorized Denomination of face value called for redemption, and (2) for exchange, without 
charge to the Owner thereof, for a new Bond or Bonds of the aggregate principal amount of the 
unredeemed portion of the principal amount of such Bond.  If the Owner of any such Bond fails to present 
such Bond to the Paying Agent for payment and exchange as aforesaid, such Bond shall, nevertheless, 

169



 

16 

become due and payable on the redemption date to the extent of a minimum Authorized Denomination of 
face value called for redemption (and to that extent only). 
 

Section 303. Notice and Effect of Call for Redemption.  In the event the Issuer desires to 
call the Bonds for redemption prior to maturity, written notice of such intent shall be provided to the Bond 
Registrar in accordance with K.S.A. 10-129, as amended, not less than 45 days prior to the Redemption 
Date.  The Bond Registrar shall call Bonds for redemption and payment and shall give notice of such 
redemption as herein provided upon receipt by the Bond Registrar at least 45 days prior to the 
Redemption Date of written instructions of the Issuer specifying the principal amount, Stated Maturities, 
Redemption Date and Redemption Prices of the Bonds to be called for redemption.  [The foregoing 
provisions of this paragraph shall not apply in the case of any mandatory redemption of Term Bonds 
hereunder, and Term Bonds shall be called by the Paying Agent for redemption pursuant to such 
mandatory redemption requirements without the necessity of any action by the Issuer and whether or not 
the Paying Agent holds moneys available and sufficient to effect the required redemption.] 
 
 Unless waived by any Owner of Bonds to be redeemed, if the Issuer shall call any Bonds for 
redemption and payment prior to the Stated Maturity thereof, the Issuer shall give written notice of its 
intention to call and pay said Bonds to the Bond Registrar and the State Treasurer.  In addition, the Issuer 
shall cause the Bond Registrar to give written notice of redemption to the Owners of said Bonds.  Each of 
said written notices shall be deposited in the United States first class mail not less than 30 days prior to 
the Redemption Date. 
 
 All official notices of redemption shall be dated and shall contain the following information: 
 
 (a) the Redemption Date; 
 
 (b) the Redemption Price; 
 
 (c) if less than all Outstanding Bonds are to be redeemed, the identification (and, in the case 
of partial redemption of any Bonds, the respective principal amounts) of the Bonds to be redeemed; 
 
 (d) a statement that on the Redemption Date the Redemption Price will become due and 
payable upon each such Bond or portion thereof called for redemption and that interest thereon shall cease 
to accrue from and after the Redemption Date; and 
 
 (e) the place where such Bonds are to be surrendered for payment of the Redemption Price, 
which shall be the principal office of the Paying Agent. 
 
 The failure of any Owner to receive notice given as previously provided or an immaterial defect 
therein shall not invalidate any redemption. 
 
 Prior to any Redemption Date, the Issuer shall deposit with the Paying Agent an amount of 
money sufficient to pay the Redemption Price of all the Bonds or portions of Bonds that are to be 
redeemed on such Redemption Date. 
 
 For so long as the Securities Depository is effecting book-entry transfers of the Bonds, the Bond 
Registrar shall provide the notices specified in this Section to the Securities Depository.  It is expected 
that the Securities Depository shall, in turn, notify its Participants and that the Participants, in turn, will 
notify or cause to be notified the Beneficial Owners.  Any failure on the part of the Securities Depository 
or a Participant, or failure on the part of a nominee of a Beneficial Owner of a Bond (having been mailed 

170



 

17 

notice from the Bond Registrar, the Securities Depository, a Participant or otherwise) to notify the 
Beneficial Owner of the Bond so affected, shall not affect the validity of the redemption of such Bond. 
 
 Official notice of redemption having been given as aforesaid, the Bonds or portions of Bonds to 
be redeemed shall become due and payable on the Redemption Date, at the Redemption Price therein 
specified, and from and after the Redemption Date (unless the Issuer defaults in the payment of the 
Redemption Price) such Bonds or portion of Bonds shall cease to bear interest.  Upon surrender of such 
Bonds for redemption in accordance with such notice, the Redemption Price of such Bonds shall be paid 
by the Paying Agent.  Installments of interest due on or prior to the Redemption Date shall be payable as 
herein provided for payment of interest.  Upon surrender for any partial redemption of any Bond, there 
shall be prepared for the Owner a new Bond or Bonds of the same Stated Maturity in the amount of the 
unpaid principal as provided herein.  All Bonds that have been surrendered for redemption shall be 
cancelled and destroyed by the Paying Agent as provided herein and shall not be reissued. 
 
 In addition to the foregoing notice, the Issuer shall provide such notices of redemption as are 
required by the Disclosure Undertaking.  Further notice may be given by the Issuer or the Bond Registrar 
on behalf of the Issuer as set out below, but no defect in said further notice nor any failure to give all or 
any portion of such further notice shall in any manner defeat the effectiveness of a call for redemption if 
official notice thereof is given as above prescribed: 
 
 (a) Each further notice of redemption given hereunder shall contain the information required 
above for an official notice of redemption plus (1) the CUSIP numbers of all Bonds being redeemed; (2) 
the date of issue of the Bonds as originally issued; (3) the rate of interest borne by each Bond being 
redeemed; (4) the maturity date of each Bond being redeemed; and (5) any other descriptive information 
needed to identify accurately the Bonds being redeemed. 
 
 (b) Each further notice of redemption shall be sent at least one day before the mailing of 
notice to Owners by first class, registered or certified mail or overnight delivery, as determined by the 
Bond Registrar, to all registered securities depositories then in the business of holding substantial amounts 
of obligations of types comprising the Bonds and to one or more national information services that 
disseminate notices of redemption of obligations such as the Bonds. 
 
 (c) Each check or other transfer of funds issued for the payment of the Redemption Price of 
Bonds being redeemed shall bear or have enclosed the CUSIP number of the Bonds being redeemed with 
the proceeds of such check or other transfer. 
 
 The Paying Agent is also directed to comply with any mandatory standards then in effect for 
processing redemptions of municipal securities established by the State or the Securities and Exchange 
Commission.  Failure to comply with such standards shall not affect or invalidate the redemption of any 
Bond. 
 
 

ARTICLE IV 
 

SECURITY FOR BONDS 
 

Section 401. Security for the Bonds.  The Bonds shall be general obligations of the Issuer 
payable as to both principal and interest in part from special assessments levied upon the property 
benefited by the construction of the Improvements and, if not so paid, from ad valorem taxes which may 
be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the taxable tangible property, real and personal, 

171



 

18 

within the territorial limits of the Issuer.  The balance of the principal and interest on the Bonds is payable 
from ad valorem taxes which may be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the taxable 
tangible property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the Issuer.  The full faith, credit and 
resources of the Issuer are hereby irrevocably pledged for the prompt payment of the principal of and 
interest on the Bonds as the same become due. 
 

Section 402. Levy and Collection of Annual Tax; Transfer to Debt Service Account.  The 
governing body of the Issuer shall annually make provision for the payment of principal of, premium, if 
any, and interest on the Bonds as the same become due by, to the extent necessary, levying and collecting 
the necessary taxes and/or assessments upon all of the taxable tangible property within the Issuer in the 
manner provided by law. 
 
 The taxes and/or assessments referred to above shall be extended upon the tax rolls in each of the 
several years, respectively, and shall be levied and collected at the same time and in the same manner as 
the other ad valorem taxes of the Issuer are levied and collected.  The proceeds derived from said taxes 
shall be deposited in the Bond and Interest Fund, shall be kept separate and apart from all other funds of 
the Issuer shall thereafter be transferred to the Debt Service Account and shall be used solely for the 
payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds as and when the same become due, taking into 
account any scheduled mandatory redemptions, and the fees and expenses of the Paying Agent.  
 
 If at any time said taxes and/or assessments are not collected in time to pay the principal of or 
interest on the Bonds when due, the Treasurer is hereby authorized and directed to pay said principal or 
interest out of the general funds of the Issuer and to reimburse said general funds for money so expended 
when said taxes are collected.  
 
 

ARTICLE V 
 

ESTABLISHMENT OF FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS 
DEPOSIT AND APPLICATION OF BOND PROCEEDS 

 
Section 501. Creation of Funds and Accounts.  Simultaneously with the issuance of the 

Bonds, there shall be created within the Treasury of the Issuer the following Funds and Accounts: 
 
 (a) Improvement Fund for General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A. 
 
 (b) Debt Service Account for General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A (within the Bond and 
Interest Fund). 
 
 (c) Rebate Fund for General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A. 
 
 The Funds and Accounts established herein shall be administered in accordance with the 
provisions of this Bond Resolution so long as the Bonds are Outstanding. 
  

Section 502. Deposit of Bond Proceeds.  The net proceeds received from the sale of the 
Bonds shall be deposited simultaneously with the delivery of the Bonds as follows: 
 
 (a) All accrued interest received from the sale of the Bonds shall be deposited in the Debt 
Service Account. 
 

172



 

19 

 (b) The remaining balance of the proceeds derived from the sale of the Bonds shall be 
deposited in the Improvement Fund. 
 

Section 503. Application of Moneys in the Improvement Fund.  Moneys in the 
Improvement Fund shall be used for the sole purpose of:  (a) paying the costs of the Improvements, in 
accordance with the plans and specifications therefor approved by the governing body of the Issuer and 
on file in the office of the Clerk, including any alterations in or amendments to said plans and 
specifications deemed advisable by the Consulting Engineer and approved by the governing body of the 
Issuer; (b) [paying interest on the Bonds during construction of the Improvements; and (c)] paying Costs 
of Issuance.  Upon completion of the Improvements, any surplus remaining in the Improvement Fund 
shall be deposited in the Debt Service Account. 
 

Section 504. Application of Moneys in Debt Service Account.  All amounts paid and 
credited to the Debt Service Account shall be expended and used by the Issuer for the sole purpose of 
paying the principal or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds as and when the same become due 
and the usual and customary fees and expenses of the Bond Registrar and Paying Agent.  The Treasurer is 
authorized and directed to withdraw from the Debt Service Account sums sufficient to pay both principal 
or Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds and the fees and expenses of the Bond Registrar and 
Paying Agent as and when the same become due, and to forward such sums to the Paying Agent in a 
manner which ensures that the Paying Agent will receive immediately available funds in such amounts on 
or before the Business Day immediately preceding the dates when such principal, interest and fees of the 
Bond Registrar and Paying Agent will become due.  If, through the lapse of time or otherwise, the Owners 
of Bonds are no longer entitled to enforce payment of the Bonds or the interest thereon, the Paying Agent 
shall return said funds to the Issuer.  All moneys deposited with the Paying Agent shall be deemed to be 
deposited in accordance with and subject to all of the provisions contained in this Bond Resolution and 
shall be held in trust by the Paying Agent for the benefit of the Owners of the Bonds entitled to payment 
from such moneys.  
 
 Any moneys or investments remaining in the Debt Service Account after the retirement of the 
Bonds shall be transferred and paid into the Bond and Interest Fund. 
 

Section 505. Application of Moneys in the Rebate Fund. 
 
 (a) There shall be deposited in the Rebate Fund such amounts as are required to be deposited 
therein pursuant to the Federal Tax Certificate.  All money at any time deposited in the Rebate Fund shall 
be held in trust, to the extent required to satisfy the Rebate Amount (as defined in the Federal Tax 
Certificate), for payment to the United States of America, and neither the Issuer nor the Owner of any 
Bonds shall have any rights in or claim to such money.  All amounts deposited into or on deposit in the 
Rebate Fund shall be governed by this Section and the Federal Tax Certificate. 
 
 (b) The Issuer shall periodically determine the arbitrage rebate, if any, under Code § 148(f) in 
accordance with the Federal Tax Certificate, and the Issuer shall make payments to the United States of 
America at the times and in the amounts determined under the Federal Tax Certificate.  Any moneys 
remaining in the Rebate Fund after redemption and payment of all of the Bonds and payment and 
satisfaction of any Rebate Amount, or provision made therefor, shall be deposited into the Bond and 
Interest Fund. 
 
 (c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Bond Resolution, including in particular 
Article VII hereof, the obligation to pay arbitrage rebate to the United States of America and to comply 
with all other requirements of this Section and the Federal Tax Certificate shall survive the defeasance or 
payment in full of the Bonds. 

173



 

20 

 
Section 506. Deposits and Investment of Moneys.  Moneys in each of the Funds and 

Accounts shall be deposited in accordance with laws of the State, in a bank, savings and loan association 
or savings bank organized under the laws of the State, any other state or the United States:  (a) which has 
a main or branch office located in the Issuer; or (b) if no such entity has a main or branch office located in 
the Issuer, with such an entity that has a main or branch office located in the county or counties in which 
the Issuer is located.  All such depositaries shall be members of the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation, or otherwise as permitted by State law.  All such deposits shall be invested in Permitted 
Investments as set forth in this Article or shall be adequately secured as provided by the laws of the State.  
All moneys held in the Funds and Accounts shall be kept separate and apart from all other funds of the 
Issuer so that there shall be no commingling with any other funds of the Issuer. 
 
 Moneys held in any Fund or Account may be invested in accordance with this Bond Resolution 
and the Federal Tax Certificate in Permitted Investments; provided, however, that no such investment 
shall be made for a period extending longer than to the date when the moneys invested may be needed for 
the purpose for which such fund was created.  All earnings on any investments held in any Fund or 
Account shall accrue to and become a part of such Fund or Account; provided that, during the period of 
construction of the Improvements, earnings on the investment of such funds may, at the discretion of the 
Issuer, be credited to the Debt Service Account. 
 
 

ARTICLE VI 
 

DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 
 

Section 601. Remedies.  The provisions of the Bond Resolution, including the covenants and 
agreements herein contained, shall constitute a contract between the Issuer and the Owners of the Bonds.  
If an Event of Default occurs and shall be continuing, the Owner or Owners of not less than 10% in 
principal amount of the Bonds at the time Outstanding shall have the right for the equal benefit and 
protection of all Owners of Bonds similarly situated: 
 
 (a) by mandamus or other suit, action or proceedings at law or in equity to enforce the rights 
of such Owner or Owners against the Issuer and its officers, agents and employees, and to require and 
compel duties and obligations required by the provisions of the Bond Resolution or by the Constitution 
and laws of the State; 
 
 (b) by suit, action or other proceedings in equity or at law to require the Issuer, its officers, 
agents and employees to account as if they were the trustees of an express trust; and 
 
 (c) by suit, action or other proceedings in equity or at law to enjoin any acts or things which 
may be unlawful or in violation of the rights of the Owners of the Bonds. 
 

Section 602. Limitation on Rights of Owners.  The covenants and agreements of the Issuer 
contained herein and in the Bonds shall be for the equal benefit, protection, and security of the Owners of 
any or all of the Bonds, all of which Bonds shall be of equal rank and without preference or priority of 
one Bond over any other Bond in the application of the funds herein pledged to the payment of the 
principal of and the interest on the Bonds, or otherwise, except as to rate of interest, date of maturity and 
right of prior redemption as provided in this Bond Resolution.  No one or more Owners secured hereby 
shall have any right in any manner whatever by his or their action to affect, disturb or prejudice the 
security granted and provided for herein, or to enforce any right hereunder, except in the manner herein 

174



 

21 

provided, and all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained for the equal 
benefit of all Outstanding Bonds. 
 

Section 603. Remedies Cumulative.  No remedy conferred herein upon the Owners is 
intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each such remedy shall be cumulative and in addition to 
every other remedy and may be exercised without exhausting and without regard to any other remedy 
conferred herein.  No waiver of any default or breach of duty or contract by the Owner of any Bond shall 
extend to or affect any subsequent default or breach of duty or contract or shall impair any rights or 
remedies thereon.  No delay or omission of any Owner to exercise any right or power accruing upon any 
default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or 
acquiescence therein.  Every substantive right and every remedy conferred upon the Owners of the Bonds 
by this Bond Resolution may be enforced and exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 
expedient.  If action or proceedings taken by any Owner on account of any default or to enforce any right 
or exercise any remedy has been discontinued or abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined 
adversely to such Owner, then, and in every such case, the Issuer and the Owners of the Bonds shall be 
restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, and all rights, remedies, powers and 
duties of the Owners shall continue as if no such suit, action or other proceedings had been brought or 
taken. 
 
 

ARTICLE VII 
 

DEFEASANCE 
 

Section 701. Defeasance.  When any or all of the Bonds, redemption premium, if any, or 
scheduled interest payments thereon have been paid and discharged, then the requirements contained in 
this Bond Resolution and the pledge of the Issuer’s faith and credit hereunder and all other rights granted 
hereby shall terminate with respect to the Bonds or scheduled interest payments thereon so paid and 
discharged.  Bonds, redemption premium, if any, or scheduled interest payments thereon shall be deemed 
to have been paid and discharged within the meaning of this Bond Resolution if there has been deposited 
with the Paying Agent, or other commercial bank or trust company located in the State and having full 
trust powers, at or prior to the Stated Maturity or Redemption Date of said Bonds or the interest payments 
thereon, in trust for and irrevocably appropriated thereto, moneys and/or Defeasance Obligations which, 
together with the interest to be earned on any such Defeasance Obligations, will be sufficient for the 
payment of the principal of or Redemption Price of said Bonds and/or interest accrued to the Stated 
Maturity or Redemption Date, or if default in such payment has occurred on such date, then to the date of 
the tender of such payments.  If the amount to be so deposited is based on the Redemption Price of any 
Bonds, no such satisfaction shall occur until (a) the Issuer has elected to redeem such Bonds, and (b) 
either notice of such redemption has been given, or the Issuer has given irrevocable instructions, or shall 
have provided for an escrow agent to give irrevocable instructions, to the Bond Registrar to give such 
notice of redemption in compliance with Article III hereof.  Any money and Defeasance Obligations that 
at any time shall be deposited with the Paying Agent or other commercial bank or trust company by or on 
behalf of the Issuer, for the purpose of paying and discharging any of the Bonds, shall be and are hereby 
assigned, transferred and set over to the Paying Agent or other bank or trust company in trust for the 
respective Owners of the Bonds, and such moneys shall be and are hereby irrevocably appropriated to the 
payment and discharge thereof.  All money and Defeasance Obligations deposited with the Paying Agent 
or such bank or trust company shall be deemed to be deposited in accordance with and subject to all of the 
provisions of this Bond Resolution.   
 
 

175



 

22 

ARTICLE VIII 
 

TAX COVENANTS 
 

Section 801. General Covenants.  The Issuer covenants and agrees that it will comply with:  
(a) all applicable provisions of the Code necessary to maintain the exclusion from gross income for 
federal income tax purposes of the interest on the Bonds; and (b) all provisions and requirements of the 
Federal Tax Certificate.  The Mayor and Clerk are hereby authorized and directed to execute the Federal 
Tax Certificate in a form approved by Bond Counsel, for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the 
Issuer.  The Issuer will, in addition, adopt such other ordinances or resolutions and take such other actions 
as may be necessary to comply with the Code and with all other applicable future laws, regulations, 
published rulings and judicial decisions, in order to ensure that the interest on the Bonds will remain 
excluded from federal gross income, to the extent any such actions can be taken by the Issuer. 
 

Section 802. Survival of Covenants.  The covenants contained in this Article and in the 
Federal Tax Certificate shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding the defeasance of the Bonds 
pursuant to Article VII hereof or any other provision of this Bond Resolution until such time as is set 
forth in the Federal Tax Certificate. 
 
 

ARTICLE IX 
 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE REQUIREMENTS 
 

Section 901. Disclosure Requirements.  The Issuer hereby covenants with the Purchaser and 
the Beneficial Owners to provide and disseminate such information as is required by the SEC Rule and as 
further set forth in the Disclosure Undertaking, the provisions of which are incorporated herein by 
reference.  Such covenant shall be for the benefit of and enforceable by the Purchaser and the Beneficial 
Owners. 
 

Section 902. Failure to Comply with Continuing Disclosure Requirements.  In the event 
the Issuer fails to comply in a timely manner with its covenants contained in the preceding section, the 
Purchaser and/or any Beneficial Owner may make demand for such compliance by written notice to the 
Issuer.  In the event the Issuer does not remedy such noncompliance within 10 days of receipt of such 
written notice, the Purchaser or any Beneficial Owner may in its discretion, without notice or demand, 
proceed to enforce compliance by a suit or suits in equity for the specific performance of such covenant or 
agreement contained in the preceding section or for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or 
equitable remedy, as the Purchaser and/or any Beneficial Owner shall deem effectual to protect and 
enforce any of the duties of the Issuer under such preceding section.  Notwithstanding any other provision 
of this Bond Resolution, failure of the Issuer to comply with its covenants contained in the preceding 
section shall not be considered an Event of Default under this Bond Resolution. 
 
 

ARTICLE X 
 

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 
 

Section 1001. Annual Audit.  Annually, promptly after the end of the Fiscal Year, the Issuer 
will cause an audit to be made of the financial statements of the Issuer for the preceding Fiscal Year by an 
Independent Accountant.  Within 30 days after the completion of each such audit, a copy thereof shall be 

176



 

23 

filed in the office of the Clerk.  Such audit shall at all times during the usual business hours be open to the 
examination and inspection by any taxpayer, any Owner of any of the Bonds, or by anyone acting for or 
on behalf of such taxpayer or Owner.  Upon payment of the reasonable cost of preparing and mailing the 
same, a copy of any annual audit will, upon request, be sent to any Owner or prospective Owner.  As soon 
as possible after the completion of the annual audit, the governing body of the Issuer shall review such 
audit, and if the audit discloses that proper provision has not been made for all of the requirements of this 
Bond Resolution, the Issuer shall promptly cure such deficiency. 
 

Section 1002. Amendments.  The rights and duties of the Issuer and the Owners, and the terms 
and provisions of the Bonds or of this Bond Resolution, may be amended or modified at any time in any 
respect by resolution of the Issuer with the written consent of the Owners of not less than a majority in 
principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, such consent to be evidenced by an instrument or 
instruments executed by such Owners and duly acknowledged or proved in the manner of a deed to be 
recorded, and such instrument or instruments shall be filed with the Clerk, but no such modification or 
alteration shall:  
 
 (a) extend the maturity of any payment of principal or interest due upon any Bond;  
 
 (b) effect a reduction in the amount which the Issuer is required to pay as principal of or 
interest on any Bond;  
 
 (c) permit preference or priority of any Bond over any other Bond; or 
 
 (d) reduce the percentage in principal amount of Bonds required for the written consent to 
any modification or alteration of the provisions of this Bond Resolution.  
 
 Any provision of the Bonds or of this Bond Resolution may, however, be amended or modified 
by resolution duly adopted by the governing body of the Issuer at any time in any legal respect with the 
written consent of the Owners of all of the Bonds at the time Outstanding.  
 
 Without notice to or the consent of any Owners, the Issuer may amend or supplement this Bond 
Resolution for the purpose of curing any formal defect, omission, inconsistency or ambiguity herein, to 
grant to or confer upon the Owners any additional rights, remedies, powers or authority that may lawfully 
be granted to or conferred upon the Owners, to more precisely identify the Improvements, to reallocate 
proceeds of the Bonds among Improvements, to conform this Bond Resolution to the Code or future 
applicable federal law concerning tax-exempt obligations, or in connection with any other change therein 
which is not materially adverse to the interests of the Owners.   
 
 Every amendment or modification of the provisions of the Bonds or of this Bond Resolution, to 
which the written consent of the Owners is given, as above provided, shall be expressed in a resolution 
adopted by the governing body of the Issuer amending or supplementing the provisions of this Bond 
Resolution and shall be deemed to be a part of this Bond Resolution.  A certified copy of every such 
amendatory or supplemental resolution, if any, and a certified copy of this Bond Resolution shall always 
be kept on file in the office of the Clerk, and shall be made available for inspection by the Owner of any 
Bond or a prospective purchaser or owner of any Bond authorized by this Bond Resolution, and upon 
payment of the reasonable cost of preparing the same, a certified copy of any such amendatory or 
supplemental resolution or of this Bond Resolution will be sent by the Clerk to any such Owner or 
prospective Owner. 
 
 Any and all modifications made in the manner hereinabove provided shall not become effective 
until there has been filed with the Clerk a copy of the resolution of the Issuer hereinabove provided for, 

177



 

24 

duly certified, as well as proof of any required consent to such modification by the Owners of the Bonds 
then Outstanding.  It shall not be necessary to note on any of the Outstanding Bonds any reference to such 
amendment or modification.  
 
 The Issuer shall furnish to the Paying Agent a copy of any amendment to the Bonds or this Bond 
Resolution which affects the duties or obligations of the Paying Agent under this Bond Resolution. 
 

Section 1003. Notices, Consents and Other Instruments by Owners.  Any notice, consent, 
request, direction, approval or other instrument to be signed and executed by the Owners may be in any 
number of concurrent writings of similar tenor and may be signed or executed by such Owners in person 
or by agent appointed in writing.  Proof of the execution of any such instrument or of the writing 
appointing any such agent and of the ownership of Bonds, if made in the following manner, shall be 
sufficient for any of the purposes of this Bond Resolution, and shall be conclusive in favor of the Issuer 
and the Paying Agent with regard to any action taken, suffered or omitted under any such instrument, 
namely: 
 
 (a) The fact and date of the execution by any person of any such instrument may be proved 
by a certificate of any officer in any jurisdiction who by law has power to take acknowledgments within 
such jurisdiction that the person signing such instrument acknowledged before such officer the execution 
thereof, or by affidavit of any witness to such execution. 
 
 (b) The fact of ownership of Bonds, the amount or amounts, numbers and other identification 
of Bonds, and the date of holding the same shall be proved by the Bond Register. 
 
 In determining whether the Owners of the requisite principal amount of Bonds Outstanding have 
given any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver under this Bond 
Resolution, Bonds owned by the Issuer shall be disregarded and deemed not to be Outstanding under this 
Bond Resolution, except that, in determining whether the Owners shall be protected in relying upon any 
such request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver, only Bonds which the Owners 
know to be so owned shall be so disregarded.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Bonds so owned which 
have been pledged in good faith shall not be disregarded as aforesaid if the pledgee establishes to the 
satisfaction of the Owners the pledgee’s right so to act with respect to such Bonds and that the pledgee is 
not the Issuer. 
 

Section 1004. Notices.  Any notice, request, complaint, demand or other communication required 
or desired to be given or filed under this Bond Resolution shall be in writing, given to the Notice 
Representative at the Notice Address and shall be deemed duly given or filed if the same shall be:  (a) duly 
mailed by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid; or (b) communicated via fax, with electronic or 
telephonic confirmation of receipt.  Copies of such notices shall also be given to the Paying Agent.  The 
Issuer, the Paying Agent and the Purchaser may from time to time designate, by notice given hereunder to 
the others of such parties, such other address to which subsequent notices, certificates or other 
communications shall be sent. 
 
 All notices given by:  (a) certified or registered mail as aforesaid shall be deemed duly given as of 
the date they are so mailed; (b) fax as aforesaid shall be deemed duly given as of the date of confirmation of 
receipt.  If, because of the temporary or permanent suspension of regular mail service or for any other 
reason, it is impossible or impractical to mail any notice in the manner herein provided, then such other form 
of notice as shall be made with the approval of the Paying Agent shall constitute a sufficient notice. 
 

Section 1005. Electronic Transactions.  The issuance of the Bonds and the transactions related 
thereto and described herein may be conducted and documents may be stored by electronic means. 

178



 

25 

 
Section 1006. Further Authority.  The officers and officials of the Issuer, including the Mayor 

and Clerk, are hereby authorized and directed to execute all documents and take such actions as they may 
deem necessary or advisable in order to carry out and perform the purposes of this Bond Resolution and 
to make ministerial alterations, changes or additions in the foregoing agreements, statements, instruments 
and other documents herein approved, authorized and confirmed which they may approve, and the 
execution or taking of such action shall be conclusive evidence of such necessity or advisability. 
 

Section 1007. Severability.  If any section or other part of this Bond Resolution, whether large 
or small, is for any reason held invalid, the invalidity thereof shall not affect the validity of the other 
provisions of this Bond Resolution. 
 

Section 1008. Governing Law.  This Bond Resolution shall be governed exclusively by and 
construed in accordance with the applicable laws of the State. 
 

Section 1009. Effective Date.  This Bond Resolution shall take effect and be in full force from 
and after its adoption by the governing body of the Issuer. 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 

179



 

(Signature Page to Bond Resolution) 

 ADOPTED by the governing body of the Issuer on June 11, 2015. 
 
 
 
(SEAL)              
        Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
       
 Clerk 
 
 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 

180



 

A-1 

EXHIBIT A 
(FORM OF BONDS) 

 
 
REGISTERED        REGISTERED 
NUMBER              $          
 

Unless this certificate is presented by an authorized representative of The 
Depository Trust Company, a New York Corporation (“DTC”), to the Issuer or its 
agent for registration of transfer, exchange or payment, and any certificate issued is 
registered in the name of Cede & Co. or in such other name as is requested by an 
authorized representative of DTC (and any payment is made to Cede & Co. or to 
such other entity as is requested by an authorized representative of DTC), ANY 
TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR 
OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL inasmuch as the 
registered owner hereof, Cede & Co., has an interest herein. 

 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
STATE OF KANSAS 
COUNTY OF ELLIS 

CITY OF HAYS 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND 

SERIES 2015-A 
 
 
Interest  Maturity  Dated    CUSIP: 
Rate:   Date:   Date:  July 1, 2015 
 
 
REGISTERED OWNER: 
 
PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: 
 
 KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS:  That the City of Hays, in the County of 
Ellis, State of Kansas (the “Issuer”), for value received, hereby acknowledges itself to be indebted and 
promises to pay to the Registered Owner shown above, or registered assigns, but solely from the source 
and in the manner herein specified, the Principal Amount shown above on the Maturity Date shown 
above, unless called for redemption prior to said Maturity Date, and to pay interest thereon at the Interest 
Rate per annum shown above (computed on the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months), from 
the Dated Date shown above, or from the most recent date to which interest has been paid or duly 
provided for, payable semiannually on March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing March 1, 
2016 (the “Interest Payment Dates”), until the Principal Amount has been paid. 
 
 Method and Place of Payment.  The principal or redemption price of this Bond shall be paid at 
maturity or upon earlier redemption to the person in whose name this Bond is registered at the maturity or 
redemption date thereof, upon presentation and surrender of this Bond at the principal office of the 
Treasurer of the State of Kansas, Topeka, Kansas (the “Paying Agent” and “Bond Registrar”).  The 
interest payable on this Bond on any Interest Payment Date shall be paid to the person in whose name this 
Bond is registered on the registration books maintained by the Bond Registrar at the close of business on 

181



 

A-2 

the Record Date(s) for such interest, which shall be the 15th day (whether or not a business day) of the 
calendar month next preceding the Interest Payment Date.  Such interest shall be payable (a) by check or 
draft mailed by the Paying Agent to the address of such Registered Owner shown on the Bond Register or 
at such other address as is furnished to the Paying Agent in writing by such Registered Owner; or (b) in 
the case of an interest payment to Cede & Co. or any Owner of $500,000 or more in aggregate principal 
amount of Bonds by electronic transfer to such Owner upon written notice given to the Bond Registrar by 
such Registered Owner, not less than 15 days prior to the Record Date for such interest, containing the 
electronic transfer instructions including the bank, ABA routing number and account number to which 
such Registered Owner wishes to have such transfer directed.  The principal or redemption price of and 
interest on the Bonds shall be payable in any coin or currency that, on the respective dates of payment 
thereof, is legal tender for the payment of public and private debts.  Interest not punctually paid will be 
paid in the manner established in the within defined Bond Resolution. 
 
 Definitions.  Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the 
meanings assigned to such terms in the hereinafter defined Bond Resolution. 
 
 Authorization of Bonds.  This Bond is one of an authorized series of Bonds of the Issuer 
designated “General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A,” aggregating the principal amount of 
$[PRINCIPAL AMOUNT] (the “Bonds”) issued for the purposes set forth in the Ordinance of the Issuer 
authorizing the issuance of the Bonds and the Resolution of the Issuer prescribing the form and details of 
the Bonds (collectively, the “Bond Resolution”).  The Bonds are issued by the authority of and in full 
compliance with the provisions, restrictions and limitations of the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Kansas, including K.S.A. 12-6a01 et seq., as amended, and all other provisions of the laws of the State of 
Kansas applicable thereto. 
 
 General Obligations.  The Bonds constitute general obligations of the Issuer payable as to both 
principal and interest in part from special assessments levied upon the property benefited by the 
construction of certain Improvements (as said term is described in the Bond Resolution) and, if not so 
paid, from ad valorem taxes which may be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the 
taxable tangible property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the Issuer, the balance being 
payable from ad valorem taxes which may be levied without limitation as to rate or amount upon all the 
taxable tangible property, real and personal, within the territorial limits of the Issuer.  The full faith, credit 
and resources of the Issuer are hereby pledged for the payment of the principal of and interest on this 
Bond and the issue of which it is a part as the same respectively become due. 
 
 Redemption Prior to Maturity.  The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity, as 
provided in the Bond Resolution. 
 
 Book-Entry System.  The Bonds are being issued by means of a book-entry system with no 
physical distribution of bond certificates to be made except as provided in the Bond Resolution.  One 
Bond certificate with respect to each date on which the Bonds are stated to mature or with respect to each 
form of Bonds, registered in the nominee name of the Securities Depository, is being issued and required 
to be deposited with the Securities Depository and immobilized in its custody.  The book-entry system 
will evidence positions held in the Bonds by the Securities Depository’s participants, beneficial 
ownership of the Bonds in authorized denominations being evidenced in the records of such participants.  
Transfers of ownership shall be effected on the records of the Securities Depository and its participants 
pursuant to rules and procedures established by the Securities Depository and its participants.  The Issuer 
and the Bond Registrar will recognize the Securities Depository nominee, while the Registered Owner of 
this Bond, as the owner of this Bond for all purposes, including (i) payments of principal of, and 
redemption premium, if any, and interest on, this Bond, (ii) notices and (iii) voting.  Transfer of principal, 
interest and any redemption premium payments to participants of the Securities Depository, and transfer 

182



 

A-3 

of principal, interest and any redemption premium payments to beneficial owners of the Bonds by 
participants of the Securities Depository will be the responsibility of such participants and other nominees 
of such beneficial owners.  The Issuer and the Bond Registrar will not be responsible or liable for such 
transfers of payments or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing the records maintained by the 
Securities Depository, the Securities Depository nominee, its participants or persons acting through such 
participants.  While the Securities Depository nominee is the owner of this Bond, notwithstanding the 
provision hereinabove contained, payments of principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on 
this Bond shall be made in accordance with existing arrangements among the Issuer, the Bond Registrar 
and the Securities Depository. 
 
 Transfer and Exchange.  EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THE BOND 
RESOLUTION, THIS GLOBAL BOND MAY BE TRANSFERRED, IN WHOLE BUT NOT IN 
PART, ONLY TO ANOTHER NOMINEE OF THE SECURITIES DEPOSITORY OR TO A 
SUCCESSOR SECURITIES DEPOSITORY OR TO A NOMINEE OF A SUCCESSOR 
SECURITIES DEPOSITORY.  This Bond may be transferred or exchanged, as provided in the Bond 
Resolution, only on the Bond Register kept for that purpose at the principal office of the Bond Registrar, 
upon surrender of this Bond, together with a written instrument of transfer or authorization for exchange 
satisfactory to the Bond Registrar duly executed by the Registered Owner or the Registered Owner’s duly 
authorized agent, and thereupon a new Bond or Bonds in any Authorized Denomination of the same 
maturity and in the same aggregate principal amount shall be issued to the transferee in exchange therefor 
as provided in the Bond Resolution and upon payment of the charges therein prescribed.  The Issuer shall 
pay all costs incurred in connection with the issuance, payment and initial registration of the Bonds and 
the cost of a reasonable supply of bond blanks.  The Issuer and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the 
person in whose name this Bond is registered on the Bond Register as the absolute owner hereof for the 
purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal or redemption price hereof and interest 
due hereon and for all other purposes.  The Bonds are issued in fully registered form in Authorized 
Denominations. 
 
 Authentication.  This Bond shall not be valid or become obligatory for any purpose or be 
entitled to any security or benefit under the hereinafter defined Bond Resolution until the Certificate of 
Authentication and Registration hereon shall have been lawfully executed by the Bond Registrar. 
 
 IT IS HEREBY DECLARED AND CERTIFIED that all acts, conditions, and things required 
to be done and to exist precedent to and in the issuance of this Bond have been properly done and 
performed and do exist in due and regular form and manner as required by the Constitution and laws of 
the State of Kansas, and that the total indebtedness of the Issuer, including this series of bonds, does not 
exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation. 
 
  

183



 

A-4 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Issuer has caused this Bond to be executed by the manual or 
facsimile signature of its Mayor and attested by the manual or facsimile signature of its Clerk, and its seal 
to be affixed hereto or imprinted hereon. 
 
       CITY OF HAYS, KANSAS 
 
 
[(Facsimile Seal)]     By:    (facsimile)    
        Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
By:    (facsimile)    
 Clerk 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION AND REGISTRATION 
 
 This Bond is one of a series of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015-A, of the City of Hays, 
Kansas, described in the within-mentioned Bond Resolution. 
 
Registration Date     
 
       Office of the State Treasurer, 
         Topeka, Kansas, 
       as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent 
 
 
       By:        
 
Registration Number     
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF CLERK 
 
STATE OF KANSAS  ) 
    )  SS. 
COUNTY OF ELLIS  ) 
 
 The undersigned, Clerk of the City of Hays, Kansas, does hereby certify that the within Bond has 
been duly registered in my office according to law as of July 1, 2015. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
(Facsimile Seal)      By:    (facsimile)    
        Clerk 
 

184



 

A-5 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF STATE TREASURER 
 
OFFICE OF THE TREASURER, STATE OF KANSAS 
 
 RON ESTES, Treasurer of the State of Kansas, does hereby certify that a transcript of the 
proceedings leading up to the issuance of this Bond has been filed in the office of the State Treasurer, and 
that this Bond was registered in such office according to law on ________________. 
 
 WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
 
(Seal)       By:         
        Treasurer of the State of Kansas 
 
 
 
 

BOND ASSIGNMENT 
 
 FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the undersigned do(es) hereby sell, assign and transfer to 
 

__________________________________________________________ 
(Name and Address) 

 
__________________________________________________________ 

(Social Security or Taxpayer Identification No.) 
 
the Bond to which this assignment is affixed in the outstanding principal amount of $___________, 
standing in the name of the undersigned on the books of the Bond Registrar.  The undersigned do(es) 
hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint ____________________ as agent to transfer said Bond on the 
books of said Bond Registrar with full power of substitution in the premises.   
 
Dated              
      Name 
 
             
      Social Security or 
      Taxpayer Identification No. 
 
             
      Signature (Sign here exactly as name(s) 
      appear on the face of Certificate) 
 
      Signature guarantee: 
 
 
      By        
 

185



 

A-6 

 
LEGAL OPINION 

 
 The following is a true and correct copy of the approving legal opinion of Gilmore & Bell, P.C., 
Bond Counsel, which was dated and issued as of the date of original issuance and delivery of such Bonds: 
 
 

GILMORE & BELL, P.C. 
Attorneys at Law 

2405 Grand Boulevard 
Suite 1100 

Kansas City, Missouri  64108 
 
 

(PRINTED LEGAL OPINION) 
 
 
 

186


	6-4-15 Work Session Memo
	6-4-15 Work Session Agenda 
	5-21-15 Work Session Notes
	Outside Agency History
	Ellis County Coalition for Economic Development
	FHSU
	Wild West Festival
	DHDC
	CARE Council - Social Services
	CARE Council - Spec Alcohol
	Hays Arts Council
	Sister Cities Advisory Board
	Ellis County Historical Society
	Ordinance and Resolution to Authorize the Issuance of GO Bonds, Series 2015A



